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ABOUT RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
HOW WE REPORT
OUR APPROACH TO INTEGRATED REPORTING WILL CONTINUE TO EVOLVE OVER
TIME, IN LINE WITH THE INTERNATIONAL <IR> FRAMEWORK.
SCOPE AND BOUNDARIES OF THIS REPORT

REPORTING PRINCIPLES AND ASSURANCE

We are pleased to present our annual integrated report, which
covers the year ended 30 June 2015. This report is aimed primarily at
providers of financial capital, being both our current and potential
shareholders. In addition, we aim to inform all stakeholders interested
in our ability to create value over time.

This report is compiled and presented in accordance with the
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (JSE Listings Requirements),
the King Code of Governance Principles for South Africa 2009
(King III) and the International Integrated Reporting Council’s
(IIRC) International Integrated Reporting Framework (<IR>
Framework). We have implemented the Framework as far as
practical and our approach to integrated reporting will continue to
evolve over time, in line with the Framework.

RMB Holdings Limited (RMH) is a listed investment holding company
and all references to the ‘group’ are to the company and its
proportionate interest in its associate, FirstRand Limited. Disclosure is
limited to the company and a relevant summary of FirstRand
Limited. For detailed disclosure, stakeholders are referred to the
relevant information in FirstRand’s own publicised annual integrated
report, which can be accessed at www.firstrand.co.za.
This report contains comprehensive information of our financial
performance, stakeholders, governance, material issues, risks and
opportunities and how these influence our strategic objectives.
We show how we create value and how we will ensure that our
value creation is sustainable.

Our ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, presented on pages 53 to 105,
were prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies
Act, 71 of 2008 (Companies Act). We received external assurance
from our auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. on the fair
presentation of these annual financial statements. See the
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT on page 60. We strive to obtain
assurance on further matters contained in this report in the future.
A summarised version of the annual financial statements is
available as part of the results announcement on RMH’s website
at www.rmbh.co.za.

This was the fifth year after the unbundling of the insurance
investments of RMH into separately listed Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited (RMI). Although we take cognisance of the fact
that some shareholders are still invested in both entities, this and
future reports will focus on RMH.

WORK IN PROGRESS

CURRENT YEAR ENHANCEMENTS

X

We have refined the structure and flow of the information with a
clear picture of the business model and value creation in terms of
the capitals as per <IR> Framework. We also provide more details
of our strategy. See this section, ABOUT RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED,
which continues on page 02.

X

The PERFORMANCE AND OUTLOOK section, which starts on page 14,
provides a detailed outlook of future plans and expectations, in
addition to a critical evaluation of our performance over the past year
as well as in terms of identified key performance indicators (KPIs).
We examined our disclosure on governance and gave attention
to detailing the efforts of each of the board committees. See the
section OUR GOVERNANCE AND SUSTAINABILITY, which starts on
page 30.

Although we are proud of the enhancements made in the current
year, the following will be addressed in 2016:

X
X

a stronger link between the strategic resources and KPIs;
identification of non-financial KPIs;
a stronger link between risks identified and KPIs; and
the link between performance and remuneration of executives.

ESTABLISHING MATERIALITY
We define material issues as those which have the potential to
substantially impact our ability to create and sustain value for
our stakeholders.
The process we adopted to determine the issues material to our
business and our stakeholders is aligned with our organisational
decision-making processes and our strategies. By applying the
principle of materiality, we determined which issues could influence
the decisions, actions and performance of the group and its
investee companies.
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We describe our most material issues as our key priorities and
refer you to pages 07 to 08 of this report, in which we describe
the circumstances in which we operate, the key resources and
relationships on which we depend, the key risks and opportunities
we face and how our key priorities can affect our ability to
create and sustain value over time.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this annual integrated report may be
regarded as forward-looking statements or forecasts but do not
represent an earnings forecast. All forward-looking statements are
based solely on the views and considerations of the directors.
These statements have not been reviewed and reported on by
the external auditor.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THIS ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT
This report was prepared by the company secretary, Ellen Marais
CA (SA), under the supervision of the chief executive and financial
director, Herman Bosman LLM, CFA.
The board is ultimately responsible for ensuring the integrity of
the annual integrated report, assisted by the audit and risk
committee and further supported by management, which
convened and contracted the relevant skills and experience to
undertake the reporting process and provided management
oversight. The board, after applying its collective mind to the
preparation and presentation of the report, concluded that it
was presented in accordance with the <IR> Framework and
approved it for publication.
We are committed to improving our reporting further and
would appreciate your constructive feedback. Please use our
contact details, which can be found on the back cover.

GUIDE TO WHERE MORE INFORMATION CAN BE FOUND
This icon accompanies page number references
of information contained elsewhere in this
annual integrated report.
This icon indicates information that can be
accessed on the referenced website.
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WHO WE ARE
RMH IS A TOP 40 JSE-LISTED INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY WITH SIGNIFICANT
INFLUENCE OVER ONE OF SOUTHERN AFRICA’S LEADING BANKING AND FINANCIAL
SERVICES GROUPS, FIRSTRAND
RMH was established in 1987 by the founding members GT Ferreira,
Laurie Dippenaar and Paul Harris. RMH represents the coming
together of Rand Consolidated Investment and Rand Merchant
Bank, then owned and managed by Johann Rupert of Remgro. We
are proud to say that our founding members still play an important
role in the decision-making of RMH. Since its listing in 1992, it has
provided shareholders with a vehicle to co-invest with the founders
of one of South Africa’s most successful financial services groups.
RMH remains a founding and influential shareholder of FirstRand
and still partners management in strategic dialogue. The group
structure further provides benefits such as BEE shareholding,
portfolio optimisation and a long-term focus.

VALUE CREATION
As a listed holding company focused on long-term value creation,
we rely on a stable shareholder base. Our primary objective is to
create value for our shareholders.

An analysis of major shareholders appears on page 107.

PORTFOLIO
RMH’s sole interest is its 34.1% investment in separately listed
FirstRand Limited (FirstRand), generally regarded as Southern
Africa’s pre-eminent financial services group.
The FirstRand group comprises a portfolio of leading financial
services franchises:
First National Bank (FNB)

the retail and commercial bank

Rand Merchant Bank
(RMB)

the corporate and investment
bank

WesBank

the instalment finance business

Ashburton Investments

the investment management
business

The FCC franchise represents group-wide functions

See page 04 for a brief description of our investment.
The group is well known for its entrepreneurship, innovation and
value creation. RMH entered the JSE Top 40 in June 2002 and has
remained in the Top 40 ever since.

The portfolio is currently FirstRand focused. RMH’s endorses FirstRand’s
objective of building long-term franchise value. FirstRand’s diversified
portfolio has delivered strong growth in earnings, assets and dividends.
This track record has been achieved through a combination of
organic growth, acquisitions and creating extra sources of revenue
through start-up and development of completely new businesses.

DIVIDEND POLICY
Our dividend policy seeks to achieve a sound balance between
providing an attractive yield to shareholders and achieving
sustained growth of the share price. RMH has a stated policy of
returning net dividends (after providing for funding and operational
costs incurred at the centre) received by it in the ordinary course
of business to shareholders.

INVESTMENT POLICY
RMH’s aim is to be a value-adding, active enabler of leadership
and innovation in banking and financial services.
We invest in businesses that can deliver superior earnings and
dividend growth over the long term. This involves the acquisition
of meaningful interests in companies to have significant influence.
Sound management is an important investment criterion. We forge
strategic alliances on a partnership basis and endeavour to add
value, where possible. The purpose is to ensure superior returns to
shareholders by way of sustainable dividend and capital growth.
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KEY FACTS
(information as at 30 June 2015)

JSE share code

RMH

First listed

November 1992

Market capitalisation

R93.8 billion

Increase for the year

26%

Intrinsic value of portfolio

R100.8 billion

Discount

7%

Net income

R7.9 billion

Increase for the year

22%

Headline earnings

R7.2 billion

Increase for the year

12%

Normalised earnings

R7.2 billion

Increase for the year

15%

Chairman

GT Ferreira

Chief executive

Herman Bosman

Major shareholders

Remgro
Royal Bafokeng
PIC

Head office

Sandton, South Africa

Website

www.rmbh.co.za

28%
15%
10%
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OUR INVESTMENTS
RMH HAS SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE OVER ONE OF SOUTH AFRICA’S LEADING BANKING
AND FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUPS, FIRSTRAND, WHICH HAS A MARKET CAPITALISATION OF
R299.1 BILLION AT 30 JUNE 2015 (2014: R229.7 BILLION):

Remgro Limited

Royal Bafokeng Holdings
Proprietary Limited

Directors and management

28%

15%

10%

34%
interest

WesBank represents FirstRand’s
activities in vehicle and asset
finance in the retail, commercial
and corporate segments.

FNB represents FirstRand’s retail
and commercial activities in
South Africa and the broader
African continent.

FirstRand Limited
(FirstRand or the
FirstRand group)
RMB offers advisory, funding,
trading, corporate banking and
principal investing solutions.

The FCC franchise represents group-wide functions

Ashburton is the
investment management
business.
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL
WHAT IT MEANS TO BE AN
INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY

HOW WE MANAGE OUR
INVESTMENT

The business of an investment holding company differs substantially
from that of an operating company, which sells products and/or
services at a certain gross profit margin, thereby creating revenue
and cash inflows for the entity concerned. Strong cash flows and
shareholder value are created by increasing revenue, as well as
by limiting expenditure and optimising operational efficiencies,
thus increasing the net profit from which dividends can be paid to
shareholders.

We manage our investment on a decentralised basis and our
involvement is concentrated mainly on the provision of support
rather than on being involved in the day-to-day management of
business units. Our board considers it in the best interest of all the
parties concerned to respect the decentralised business model
and the fact that the business is conducted in a separate legal
entity. The support provided to the investment is either in the form
of strategic, financial and managerial support or the unlocking of
value by means of creating the environment for possible dealmaking.

In the case of an investment holding company, no products and/
or services are being sold. This lack of revenue, together with the
specific accounting treatment that is required for different classes
of investments in terms of IFRS, results in the net profit of an
investment holding company not always being a fair reflection of
its underlying cash flows and financial soundness. Similarly, the
variance in net profit between reporting periods will not always
be a good indication of the trend in dividends to be paid to
shareholders. The value and performance of the underlying
investments, rather than the activities at holding company level,
will thus to a large extent determine the value created by
investment holding companies for their shareholders.

We have an interest in a separately JSE-listed entity, namely
FirstRand. In line with the philosophy of decentralised management,
FirstRand has an autonomous board of directors and management
structure and we only exert our influence through non-executive
representation on its board.
As a shareholder of our investee, we also exercise our shareholder
rights to ensure, as far as possible, that it adheres to all requirements
in respect of matters such as governance, internal controls,
financial management, risk management, legal compliance,
safety, health and environmental management, internal audit,
ethics management, information management, stakeholder
relationships and sustainability.

OUR STRATEGIC RESOURCES

The capital

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

HUMAN CAPITAL

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

SOCIAL AND
RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL

Description

The capital from
shareholders and the cash
on hand that is used to
invest to generate
earnings and future value
for shareholders.

Our people and the
knowledge, skills and
experience they provide to
ensure that sound,
sustainable investments are
made in line with our strategy.

Our knowledge-based intangible
assets, such as our brand and the
brands of our investee, our
capacity to innovate and our
strong reputation.

The strong relationships we
have with our stakeholders,
based on our shared
values, and our ongoing
commitment to the
communities we live in.

Comprising

X R35 billion net asset

X Strong, ethical and

X Strong, reliable brand and

X Open stakeholder

value
X R16 million cash
X Indicative gearing
capacity of R16 billion
for potential investment

experienced board
X Agile decision-making
X Smart employees
X Owner-manager culture

reputation
X Leading investee brand in
banking
X Strategic partnership in
Remgro and Royal Bafokeng

X Shareholders
X Suppliers

X Staff

X Shareholders
X Media

Affecting

engagement
X Longstanding

reputation for ethical
standards
X Communities in which

FirstRand operate
X Government and

regulatory bodies
KPIs

Growth in intrinsic value, sustainable dividend yield and positive shareholders’ return

For more information on how we engage with our stakeholders, refer to page 09.
For more information on KPIs, refer to page 16.
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continued

OUR EARNINGS AND CASH FLOWS
Our statutory reported net profit consists primarily of the following:
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

equity accounted results of FirstRand;
profits realised on the sale/distribution of FirstRand;
dividend received from any investments not classified as subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures;
interest received on any cash on hand;
net corporate costs, including remuneration and other benefits paid to employees;
funding cost paid on borrowings; and
taxation.

Dividends received from our associate are not included in our reported net profit and any profits realised
on the sale/distribution of investments are also excluded from reported headline earnings.
However, the best approximation of our “real” profit is cash generated in order to make new investments
and/or pay dividends to shareholders. This comprises:

X

dividends received from FirstRand;
profits/loss on the realisation of FirstRand;
dividend received from investments not classified as an associate;
interest received on any cash on hand;
net corporate costs, including remuneration and other benefits paid to employees;
funding cost paid on borrowings; and

X

taxation.

X
X
X
X
X

Cash management and the control of treasury risks are therefore critically important.
We have consistently measured our performance in terms of normalised earnings, which adjusts headline
earnings to take into account non-operational items and accounting anomalies.

For the detailed calculation of normalised earnings in respect of the current and prior year,
refer to page 17.
However, the true value created is measured in terms of the increase in our intrinsic net asset value and
total shareholders’ return, which measures the growth in the underlying value of our investments.

Refer to the chief executive’s review on page 21 for a detailed analysis of our intrinsic net
asset value.

DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dividends to shareholders are funded from dividend income.
It is our objective to provide shareholders with a consistent annual dividend flow which at least protects
them against inflation. In special circumstances, we will consider other distributions in the form of special
dividends or the unbundling of investments to shareholders.
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OUR STRATEGY
VISION
RMH’s aim is to be a value-adding long-term partner, enabling leadership and innovation in banking and
financial services. Its founding members are highly influential in the industry and remain committed to
achieving its objectives.
RMH strives to achieve this vision by pursuing opportunities in the changing financial services landscape
which meet its stringent criteria and strong values.

X Client centricity

X Regulation
X Entrepreneurship
X Collaboration

X Retain and optimise

existing investment

X Africa’s emergence

CORPORATE ATTRIBUTES

X Track record of long-term

strategic partnership
X Capital

OPPOR TUNITY

X Consumer demographics

Forefront of financial services
partnership and thought

X Collaborate with existing

investment on growth
opportunities identified
X Provide support as a

strategic partner and
long-term capital provider

VISION

TRENDS

X Technology

RMH is a value-adding active
partner and enabler of
innovation and leadership in
financial services

X Credibility
X Culture of alignment of

interest and incentives
X Competencies in financial

services
X Independence

VALUES
We believe that a values-driven culture is integral to RMH’s success and long-term sustainability. We are
therefore committed to ensuring that the principles of corporate governance and ethical business
practice are applied consistently in our interactions with all stakeholders and in a way that upholds our
values, which have been formed over decades and should stand us in good stead for the future. These
values are as follows:
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

we embrace our owner-manager culture, which has been imprinted in our investment;
people are our most important resource;
we strive to create sustainable earnings for our shareholders;
we uphold the highest levels of business ethics and personal integrity;
we respect traditional values;
we motivate to innovate; and
we understand our social responsibility as a member of the greater community we operate in.
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continued

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
Our objective is to create value for our shareholders over the long term, through both an attractive dividend yield and an increase in intrinsic
value. To achieve this, we have set three strategic priorities:
X

Portfolio optimisation:
Act as a responsible custodian for the group’s investment.

X

Maximise structural benefits in the light of:
– empowerment credentials;
– strategic partnerships through substantial shareholders;
– a long-term focus;
– an optimal capital structure; and
– stability.

X

Growth:
Actively seeking opportunities to partner with FirstRand.

PORTFOLIO OPTIMISATION

STRUCTURAL BENEFITS

GROWTH

Being an active and responsible strategic
shareholder
We are a holding company with a
long-term investment horizon. Investments
are therefore held for as long as needed to
optimise their value. Based on our track
record, we believe that increasing the
value and yield of our participation
requires close collaboration with the
FirstRand management team in the
context of its board of directors. In
FirstRand we hold a position and an
influence sufficient to fulfil our role of
strategic shareholder. Our strategy is to
position ourselves amid the key
shareholders, have an engaging and
long-term approach and play an active
role within the governance bodies,
particularly when it comes to strategic
decision-making by our investment. We are
sensitive to the environmental and social
impact of FirstRand and encourage the
use of sustainable development best
practices.

Maintaining a solid and flexible
financial structure
RMH provides its shareholders and FirstRand
with certain structural benefits such as
empowerment credentials, a long-term
focus, financial flexibility and a stable
shareholder of substance.

Further diversifying the portfolio in order
to maintain a balance between growth
and yield
RMH will continue to focus on its investment
in FirstRand, which it believes gives it
diversified and growing exposure to the
South African banking and general
financial services industries.

Our objective is to maintain a sound
financial structure, with a solid liquidity
profile, ensuring we have readily available
resources, and a limited net indebtedness
in comparison to the portfolio value. This
policy gives us the flexibility required to
quickly seize investment opportunities.
Value creation through continuous and
sustainable growth of our intrinsic value
and the paid dividends
Our objective is to continue to deliver
share price performance above market
average, while ensuring regular dividend
growth.

The intention is not to activate the portfolio
on a general basis; the board will however
continue to evaluate select and
appropriate investment opportunities
which may include further exposure to
FirstRand.
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ENGAGING WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS
We believe that the strength of our relationships with all our key stakeholders is critical in the achievement of our strategic objectives and
creating sustainable long-term value for us and our stakeholders. Stakeholder engagement involves gaining a thorough understanding of
our key stakeholder groups and assessing the issues that are material to them in order to respond appropriately. The board of directors
oversees the process, while management is responsible for the implementation and monitoring thereof.
The following table provides an overview of our stakeholder engagement activities and how it impacted the formulation and delivery of
our strategy;

KEY STAKEHOLDERS

MATERIAL NEEDS

Shareholders and analysts
Including both present and potential
future investors

X
X
X
X
X

Diversified growth
Operational performance
Group strategy
Balance sheet: optimal finance
structure
Right asset, right time, right price

INTERACTION AND IMPACT
Interim and year-end results are
communicated via SENS, distributed
to shareholders and hosted on the
company website.
An integrated report is produced annually.
Meetings and conference calls with
major shareholders and analysts, with
published information forming the basis
for these discussions.

Staff
Permanent staff, temporary staff and
contractors

X
X
X
X

Inviting and supportive environment
Encourage an innovative culture
Staff engagement and communication
The importance of open and honest
feedback

Our people are critical to the long-term
sustainability of the business. We operate in
a solutions-driven culture, where teamwork,
individual achievement and continuous
learning are encouraged. We rate and
reward our people on their ability to add
value to the business.

Suppliers

X

Prompt and accurate payment

Electronic communications,
telecommunications and contacts.

Media

X

Expert opinions on financial services
topics
Result announcements

Engagement with the media is open, honest
and based on facts. A trustworthy
relationship has been established
with the media.

Financial inclusion
Enterprise development
Win-win

Focused corporate social investment done
through the FirstRand Foundation and
volunteers programme

Open relationship and communication
Adhere to law
Pay taxes

We strive to engage with government and
regulatory bodies in a proactive and
transparent manner.

X

Communities
in which FirstRand operate

X
X
X

Government and regulatory bodies

X
X
X

The sustainability report on pages 51 to 52 provides further information on our interactions with our stakeholders.
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MANAGING OUR RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
Risks are monitored by the board and other governance structures in line with the board-approved risk appetite and risk management
strategy.
Our three major risk categories are strategic risks, financial risks and operational risks.

A more comprehensive analysis of our risk management process and financial risks, including those relating to the global
economy and currencies, is disclosed in note 27 to the annual financial statements.
RISK CATEGORY

SPECIFIC RISK

ITS CONTEXT AND POSSIBLE IMPACT

WHAT WE DO IN MITIGATION

STRATEGIC RISK

Structure of the
company

Diminishing shareholder value due to
inefficient structure

Regular review of the company structure
to ensure that it is the optimal structure
of shareholder and not diminish
shareholder value

Ownership structure

Concentrated shareholding could cause
illiquidity

Regular review of top 20 shareholding and
tracking of free flow of RMH shares

Reputational risk

The risk that an action, event or transaction
may compromise the brand

We operate with a philosophy that seeks to
protect and enhance the brand, our
reputation and our ability to conduct
business with the highest ethical standards.
We recognise the importance of its
reputation and devote considerable effort
to managing all aspects of that reputation.

Independence and
conflict of interest

The possibility that a decision of the board
could be seen as prejudiced and
conflicted.

We have a well-defined delegation of
authority in place and all decisions are
made within those parameters. Declarations
of interests are up to date and directors
recuse themselves from all potentially
conflicted decisions.

Regulatory risk

Our goal is to comply with all relevant laws
and regulations.

Management attends continuous training.
A database of industry experts has been
established to assist RMH in identifying
regulatory changes. Our governance
process is proactive in identifying and
acting on legislative changes.

Investment strategy

The risk that the value of our portfolio will
be adversely affected by movements in
equity and interest rate markets, currency
exchange rates and commodity prices,
resulting in poor investment performance
relative to benchmarks.

The successful management of our
investment is dependent upon a proper
understanding of the businesses of the
investee company and also on identifying
the appropriate RMH executives that will
represent it on the board of the investee
company.
We manage market risk through a
structured investment process.
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RISK CATEGORY

SPECIFIC RISK

ITS CONTEXT AND POSSIBLE IMPACT

WHAT WE DO IN MITIGATION

Compliance,
regulatory and
legal risk

The risk of non-adherence to regulation
and legislation

We have to ensure that we are aware of
and take reasonable steps to comply with
the relevant laws and regulations.
Our governance processes are proactive in
identifying and acting on legislative
changes.
We may, where required, make use of
external experts, particularly on
international regulations.

FINANCIAL RISK

Portfolio risk

The loss of value or opportunity to create
value due to inefficient or ineffective
identification or acquisition of new
investments or the disinvestment from
existing investments.
The composition of the portfolio,
determined by the investment decisions,
may involve a particular exposure to
certain industrial sectors, certain
geographic areas or certain regulations.

The portfolio investments (also in FirstRand)
are chosen with a view to creating value for
our shareholders. We seek to mitigate this
risk by diversifying the portfolio and
analysing and monitoring the current
investment. Timing remains vital.
The investment is monitored through a
systematic portfolio review at every meeting
of the board of directors.
The chief executive and senior
management regularly meet the
management of FirstRand and directors
sit on their committees and boards of
directors.

Tax risk

We must foresee the tax implications of all
our strategic decisions and anticipate
potential changes in the current tax
legislation that could have adverse
impacts.

Our tax philosophy is to prudently manage
tax affairs in a manner that will protect our
reputation with all stakeholders.
Independent tax specialists are employed
in an advisory capacity (as required) to
perform reviews of tax risks, risk mitigation
and monitoring.

Liquidity risk

The risk that we will not be able to meet
our payment obligations as they fall due, or
that we may be forced to liquidate our
positions under adverse conditions to meet
that obligation

We have controls and processes in place to
ensure that future liquidity requirements are
met. Forecasting and management
accounts are conducted on a monthly
basis to determine liquidity requirements.

We must at all times have sufficient
financial resources to meet our obligations
in terms of investments or debt service.
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continued

RISK CATEGORY

SPECIFIC RISK

ITS CONTEXT AND POSSIBLE IMPACT

WHAT WE DO IN MITIGATION

OPERATIONAL RISK

Human resource risk

This refers to the company’s ability to find
and retain the human resources required
to ensure that it operates effectively and
achieves its objectives.

The remuneration policy is designed to
attract and retain skills and talent.

Disaster recovery
and business
continuity

The risk of the business being unable to
operate due to an unforeseen event or
disaster

The risk of key staff departures.
A comprehensive business continuity plan
has been developed and tested. The plan
provides guidance to staff for the complete
restoration of the core business functions
and IT facilities at head office.
In the event of a disaster, we have
alternative facilities where key
management and staff are able to resume
our most critical business functions.
Treasury risk

Any loss of control over cash inflows,
outflows and investments in money market
instruments may have significant financial
consequences.

Treasury transactions are subject to
documented limits and rules, formal
delegations of authority, a segregation of
duties at the payment level and with
regards to the reconciliation of treasury
data with the accounts.

Information
technology risk

The risk of IT disruption caused by an
unforeseen event or disaster
There are various risks linked to information
technology, our networks and our business
operating systems. Information security and
cyber-attacks are main risks as well as the
possible disruption of operating systems.

We have numerous policies and processes
in place to ensure the continuity and
stability of our information technology
systems, recovery in a possible disaster
situation, the security of data and that
of our operating systems are aligned with
business objectives and strategy.

Risk related to
financial reporting

The risk that financial information is not
prepared in a timely manner, is incomplete
or is not understandable to the reader.
Complete, reliable and relevant
information is a key element of
management and governance and is also
central to our communication. Competent
teams in charge of producing that
information and appropriate information
systems must enable to control this risk.

We publish consolidated financial results
twice a year. These are reviewed internally
and then by the audit and risk committee
before being submitted to the board of
directors. The external auditor carries out its
audit procedures, comments on the way its
assignment is proceeding and presents its
conclusions to the audit and risk committee.

We continue to evaluate and improve our management techniques and processes to build our reputation as a trusted and reliable holding
company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
We recognise that managing risk and compliance is an integral part of generating sustainable shareholder
value and enhancing stakeholder interests.
The board and the board of FirstRand are accountable for establishing, maintaining and monitoring
the effectiveness of the processes of risk management and systems of internal control applied throughout
the group.
Our risk management and control framework covers the following key aspects:
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

identifying key performance indicators;
identifying significant business risks, both financial and other;
maintaining proper accounting records;
ensuring the reliability of financial information used within the business for decision-making or for
publication;
ensuring compliance with applicable laws, regulations and codes of conduct;
ensuring that the group is not unnecessarily exposed to avoidable financial risks such as the risks
associated with fraud, potential liability and loss, including the safeguarding of assets;
managing potential conflicts of interest of management, board members and shareholders, including
misuse of corporate assets and abuse in related party transactions;
ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
monitoring the progress of group companies in complying with the Financial Sector Charter;
ensuring that the group and any projects in which it is involved are subject to sound environmental
practices; and
ensuring that the appropriate balance is struck between entrepreneurial endeavour and sound
business practice.

OVERALL EFFECTIVENESS OF THE CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
As with most systems of internal control, the effectiveness of internal control systems in the group is subject
to inherent limitations, including:
X
X
X
X

the possibility of human error and/or poor decision-making;
the deliberate circumventing of controls by employees or others;
management overriding controls; and
the occurrence of unforeseeable circumstances.

Control systems are therefore designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure. Accordingly, it
is recognised that a sound system of internal control can provide only reasonable and not absolute
assurance against risks impacting the achievement of business objectives or any misstatement or loss.
Management reports regularly to the respective group boards on the effectiveness of the group’s risk and
compliance management and control framework. The effectiveness of this framework is subject to
continuous review.
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OUR PERFORMANCE AND OUTLOOK
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
for the year ended 30 June 2015

NORMALISED EARNINGS

+15%
to 507.0 cents
DIVIDEND

+21%
to 276.0 cents
I N T R I N S I C VA L U E

+31%
to 7 140.1 cents
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Normalised earnings per share

Share price

(cents)

(cents)

550

7 000

500
6 000

450
400

5 000

350
300

4 000

250
200

2 000

150
100

1 000

50
0

11

12

13

14

0

15

Dividends per share

(cents)
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

J Dividends paid
J Dividends received

11

12

13

14

15

11

12

13

14

15
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Equity
Total shareholders’ return
Normalised earnings from
FNB
RMB
WesBank
Rest of FirstRand
Funding and holding company costs
Earnings and dividends
Earnings
Diluted earnings
Headline earnings
Diluted headline earnings
Normalised earnings
Ordinary dividend
Special dividend
Dividend cover
– headline earnings
– normalised earnings
Share price
– Closing
– High
– Low
Intrinsic value
Discount/(premium)
Market capitalisation
Volume of shares traded

R million
cents

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

%
change

CAGR
%

23 701

25 535

29 071

32 220

35 174

9

10

836*

1 245

984

1 988

2 169

9

27

3 091
1 680
1 218
592
(289)
(110)

4 186
2 261
1 236
881
(64)
(128)

5 107
2 711
1 485
940
90
(119)

6 237
3 206
1 810
959
350
(88)

7 194
3 839
2 000
1 131
270
(46)

15
20
10
18
(23)
(48)

24
23
13
18

cents
cents
cents
cents
cents
cents
cents

321.9
316.1
231.7
227.5
241.3
101.0
95.0

318.6
312.0
304.9
298.5
296.5
125.5
–

357.1
355.1
370.6
368.7
361.7
170.5
–

449.0
444.2
454.7
449.9
441.7
227.5
–

550.5
550.5
508.5
508.5
507.0
276.0
–

23
24
12
13
15
21

14
15
22
22
20
29

times
times

2.3
2.4

2.4
2.4

2.2
2.1

2.0
1.9

1.8
1.8
26
36
39
31

26
26
22
29

26
(7)

26

R million
R million
R million
R million
R million
R million

cents
cents
cents
cents
%
R million
million

2
2
2
2

665
928
351
589
(2.9)
37 622
535

3
3
2
34

488
651
304
711
(0.3)
49 240
644

3
4
3
3

940
475
453
831
(1.2)
55 621
456

* Assuming that RMH share was bought at the weighted average share price since the unbundling.

5
5
3
5

259
349
766
434
3.3
74 241
352

6
7
5
7

645
289
234
140
7.4
93 808
329
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NORMALISED EARNINGS
COMPUTATION OF HEADLINE AND NORMALISED EARNINGS
For the year ended
30 June

R million

2015

2014

% change

Earnings attributable to equity holders
Adjustment for:
RMH’s share of adjustment made by associate:
Loss on disposal of investment securities and other
investments of a capital nature
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale assets
Gain on disposal of investments in associates
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiaries
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Fair value movement on investment properties
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of assets in terms of IAS 36
Other
Tax effects of adjustments
Non-controlling interests adjustment
RMH’s own adjustments:
Maturing of FirstRand BEE transaction

7 769

6 337

23

HEADLINE EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

7 177

RMH’s share of adjustments made by associates:
IFRS 2 Share-based payment expenses
Treasury shares
Total Return Swap adjustment
IAS 19 adjustment
Private equity subsidiary realisations
Adjustment for:
RMH shares held by associate1
Group treasury shares2
Other3
NORMALISED EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

–
(100)
–
(75)
2
(11)
–
–
3
6
10
(427)

9
(24)
(21)
(6)
11
–
45
53
–
9
5
–
6 418

26
9
(12)
(36)
63

63
34
(69)
(36)
5

1
(34)
(36)

(2)
(176)
–

7 158

6 237

12

15

1. RMH shares held for client trading activities by FirstRand.
2. Adjustment to reflect earnings impact based on actual RMH shareholding in FirstRand i.e. reflecting treasury shares as if they are non-controlling interests. For
the current year the effect of the issue of an additional 35 420 014 issued on 20 January was taken into account on 1 January 2015 as the impact is immaterial
on the group results.
3. Adjustment reflects reversal of a once-off hedge break gain realised on the restructuring of the funding facility.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

INVESTING IN RMH PROVIDES INVESTORS AN OPPORTUNITY TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SIGNIFICANT INTEREST IN ONE OF SOUTH
AFRICA’S LEADING BANKING AND FINANCIA
FINANCIAL SERVICE GROUPS.

In 1977, Laurie Dippe
Dippenaar, Paul Harris and I founded Rand
Consolidated Investments
Investme
(RCI). Never could we have imagined
that RCI would be th
the roots of FirstRand Limited, one of South
Africa’s leading ban
banking and financial services groups. RMH
represents the coming together of RCI and Rand Merchant Bank,
then owned and man
managed by Johann Rupert of Remgro. RMH
has been the vehicle through which the founders and Remgro
remained invested in FirstRand. Although we have relinquished
executive duties, we still play an active role within FirstRand
through board represe
representation and shareholdings.
RMH is a group with a successful 28-year history of investments in
outperforming financial
financia services assets. RMH has positioned itself
as the shareholder of influence in prominent businesses such as
other standalone businesses such as Momentum
FirstRand as well as othe
Holdings), Discovery and OUTsurance.
(now part of MMI Hold
In March 2011, RMH unbundled its insurance operation into
separately listed RMI. Simultaneously,
S
RMH entered into a long-term
strategic partnership with Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary
Limited (Royal Bafokeng)
Bafoken as part of its diversification process. The
two separately listed entities
e
provide investors greater flexibility in
terms of their investment
investme choices.

GT FERREIRA
Chairman, RMH

RMH take cognisance of the fact that RMH shareholders could
investment strategy by investing in FirstRand directly.
replicate its investmen
basis, its share price in relation to its
RMH monitors, on a regular
re
the unbundling RMH has, on average, traded
intrinsic value. Since th
intrinsic value of 0.5%. For the 12 months ended
at a discount to intrins
at an average discount of 4.7% to
30 June 2015 it has traded
t
intrinsic value.
Investing in RMH provides
provid investors an opportunity to participate in
partnerships as well as participating in a
long-term strategic p
one of South Africa’s leading banking and
significant interest in o
groups.
financial service group
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ECONOMIC
ENVIRONMENT
South African economic growth faced the following external and
internal headwinds during the year:
X

Commodity prices remained under pressure, mainly due to
the strain in the Chinese economy.

X

Emerging markets were negatively impacted by the gradual
recovery of the US economy. Capital flows continued to slow
down and further currency weakness was experienced.

X

The Eurozone’s lacklustre economic recovery provided little

adequately capitalised at this stage and that the company will
be able to meet its obligations in the foreseeable future, after
payment of the final dividend.
Having due regard to the final dividend receivable from FirstRand
and applying the dividend practice outlined above, the board of
RMH has resolved to declare a gross final dividend of 154.0 cents
per share (2014: 127.5 cents). Such final dividend, together with the
interim dividend of 122.0 cents, brings the total dividend for the
year to 30 June 2015 to 276.0 cents per ordinary share (2014: 227.5
cents). The dividend is covered 1.8 times by normalised earnings
per share and represents a year-on-year increase of 21%.

support for South African exports.
X

THE YEAR AHEAD

Business confidence was negatively impacted by ongoing
electricity shortages, weak foreign demand and low prices.

X

Household consumption was impacted by higher debt service
costs, rising unemployment and moderated levels of income
growth. The oil-led drop in inflation did provide some shortterm relief.

The central bank implemented a gradual and moderate hiking
cycle, but the economy remains vulnerable to a more aggressive
hiking cycle. In other sub-Saharan countries the experiences were
similar – increased currency weakness, increased inflation, higher
policy rates and lower economic growth. Commodity prices are
expected to remain low and therefore economic performance
will be driven by structural reform.

Despite all these challenges, the group produced good
results, which are discussed in the chief executive’s review,
starting on page 20.

FINAL DIVIDEND
FOR THE 2015 FINANCIAL YEAR

Since the unbundling, a dividend yield of 4.5% has been achieved
and a total shareholders’ return of 27% has been delivered. We
believe going forward the operating environment will be more
challenging and that, to continue to deliver superior growth and
achieve targets, one would need to go the extra mile.

FIRSTRAND MANAGEMENT CHANGES
On behalf of the RMH board I would like to thank Sizwe Nxasana,
chief executive of FirstRand, who retired in September 2015, for his
dedication to FirstRand. Under his leadership FirstRand delivered a
compound annual growth rate in normalised earnings of 21%.
Sizwe is an incredibly humble individual and an inspirational leader
and role model. We would like to welcome Johan Burger as new
chief executive of FirstRand. Johan has a deep understanding
of FirstRand and a fine strategic mind. We pledge our support as
strategic shareholder to Johan in his new role.
For and on behalf of the board

RMH follows a stated practice of returning net dividends (after
providing for funding and operational costs incurred at the centre)
received by it in the ordinary course of business to shareholders.
RMH’s sole source of dividend income is its investment in FirstRand.
FirstRand is of the opinion that a range dividend cover of between
1.8 and 2.2 is appropriate, taking into consideration the macroeconomic outlook and uncertainty around potential regulatory
and accounting changes. The board is of the opinion that RMH is

GT Ferreira

Chairman
Sandton
11 September 2015
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

“RMH PRODUCED GOOD RESULTS, DEMONSTRATING LEADING
MARKET POSITIONS.”

OVERVIEW OF RESULTS
RMH produced good results for the year ended 30 June 2015,
reporting normalised earnings of R7.16 billion (2014: R6.24 billion),
an increase of 15%. Normalised earnings per share amounted to
507.0 cents per share (2014: 441.7 cents). FirstRand’s brands, FNB,
RMB and WesBank all performed well, demonstrating their leading
market positions.
The final dividend of 154.0 cents per share (2014: 127.5 cents)
resulted in dividends for the year increasing by 21%.

SOURCES OF NORMALISED EARNINGS
FirstRand’s well-diversified income stream is drawn from the full
spectrum of banking services and is predominantly sourced from
South Africa. RMH’s interest in FirstRand’s normalised earnings is as
follows:

For the year ended
30 June

HERMAN BOSMAN
Chief executive, RMH

R million

2015

2014

%
change

FNB
RMB
WesBank
Other

11 300
5 888
3 309
789

9 701
5 507
3 013
442

16
7
10
79

FIRSTRAND NORMALISED
EARNINGS

21 286

18 663

14

Attributable to RMH
Central costs

7 240
(82)

6 325
(88)

14
(7)

RMH NORMALISED EARNINGS

7 158

6 237

15

RMH regards normalised earnings as the appropriate basis to
evaluate business performance as it eliminates the impact of nonrecurring items and accounting anomalies.

A reconciliation of the adjustments made to derive
normalised earnings is presented on page 17.
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UNDERLYING INTRINSIC VALUE
Over the year to 30 June 2015, RMH’s market capitalisation increased by 26% and at that date
amounted to R93.8 billion or 6 645 cents per share (June 2014: R72.4 billion). This represented a 7.4%
discount (June 2014: 3.3% discount) to RMH’s underlying intrinsic value.

as at 30 June
2015

R million
Market value of listed investment
Net funding

101 864
(1 067)

TOTAL INTRINSIC VALUE
Intrinsic value per share (cents)

2014

%
change

77 850
(1 128)

31
5

100 797

76 722

31

7 140.1

5 434.7

31

At 30 June 2015, net borrowings at the centre amounted to R1.07 billion, of which the core element
comprised R1.18 billion in fixed rate preference shares due for redemption on 6 December 2017, paying
dividends at 7.09% per annum, six-monthly in arrears.

MATURIT Y OF FIRSTRAND’S BEE TRANSACTION
On 31 December 2014, the staff and director components of FirstRand’s 2005 Black Economic
Empowerment (BEE) transaction matured. This resulted in participants receiving a benefit valued at R5.4
billion from the vesting of 107.5 million FirstRand ordinary shares and R560 million from the vesting of 17.8
million MMI Holdings Limited (MMI) shares. The shares were held by the FirstRand Black Employee Trust,
the FirstRand Black Non-executive Directors Trust and the Staff Assistance Trust (the trusts), after
purchasing the FirstRand shares in the market in 2005 and receiving the MMI shares in the unbundling of
MMI in 2010.
To facilitate the wind-up of the trusts on maturity of the transaction, FirstRand bought back 63 million
FirstRand shares from the trusts. FirstRand also obtained 11 million MMI shares held by the trusts (collectively,
the share buy-back). The share buy-back enabled the trusts to return capital contributions and the vesting
of the net proceeds with the residual beneficiary.
To reinstate the normalised NAV, which was reduced by the share buy-back, FirstRand offered for issue 35
million ordinary shares on 20 January 2015.
On the same day, FirstRand offered 67 million FirstRand ordinary shares and R24 million MMI ordinary
shares on behalf of the beneficiaries to settle tax obligations and to deliver cash value to the beneficiaries
who elected to sell their shares. While the group facilitated the sale, the election was made by the
beneficiaries and full proceeds on the sale of these shares, were for the account of beneficiaries.
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continued

The offer was made by way of an accelerated bookbuild process to qualifying institutional investors only.
The offer was successfully placed with qualifying institutional investors, the ordinary shares delivered and the
new shares listed on the JSE on 28 January 2015. RMH did not participate in the accelerated bookbuild.
The net effect of the transactions resulted in a net profit of R427 million in the current year earnings
of RMH. This net profit is excluded for headline and normalised earnings purposes.
We are very proud of FirstRand’s BEE transaction, which created more than R23.3 billion in broad-based
value. Following the maturity of the transaction, FirstRand’s BEE ownership is 5.3%, with more than 85% of the
benefit attributable to FRET vesting in broad-based empowerment trusts.

OUTLOOK
The year to June 2016 is expected to display more negative characteristics than the year under review:
X
X
X

GDP will be lower due to both demand weakness and supply side constraints, particularly with regards
to power.
If the US recovery emerges as expected, the SA Reserve Bank may have to increase rates, which will
place further pressure on the South African consumer.
Unemployment is trending upwards, with retrenchments already announced in the mining and
construction sectors.

Economic headwinds continue to increase and growth in the system is expected to be subdued. High
levels of indebtedness remain in certain consumer segments. This means that advances growth will stay at
current levels or decline and corporate activity is unlikely to pick up significantly. Regulatory changes will
negatively impact the profitability of certain retail lending and transactional business lines.
RMH is in agreement with FirstRand that its franchises have the appropriate strategies in place to produce
resilient operational performances against this difficult economic backdrop. The strength of FirstRand’s
balance sheet and the resilience of its diverse income streams should allow FirstRand to continue to deliver
sustainable and superior returns to shareholders.

Herman Bosman

Chief executive
Sandton
11 September 2015
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

KEY FACTS
30 June
2015

30 June
2014

%
change

R299 billion

R230 billion

30

34.1%

33.9%

R1 059 billion

R947 billion

2.12%

2.06%

Income

R67.9 billion

R60.8 billion

12

Operating profit

R29.2 billion

R25.3 billion

15

Headline earnings

R21.1 billion

R18.7 billion

13

Normalised earnings

R21.2 billion

R18.7 billion

14

Dividends paid

R10.7 billion

R8.7 billion

24

42 263

38 542

10

R175.4 million

R124.2 million

41

As at

Market capitalisation
RMH’S share
Total normalised assets
Return on assets

Full-time employees
Social investment portfolio

12

24
PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

continued

FIRSTRAND CONSISTS OF A PORTFOLIO OF LEADING FINANCIAL SERVICES FRANCHISES
First National Bank

Rand Merchant Bank

WesBank

Ashburton Investments

the retail and
commercial bank

the investment bank

the instalment finance
business

the newly established
investment management
business

JOHAN BURGER
Incoming chief executive,
FirstRand

SIZWE NXASANA
Outgoing chief executive,
FirstRand
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FIRSTRAND’S STRATEGIC OBJEC TIVES

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

FirstRand’s vision is to be the African financial services group of
choice, create long-term franchise value, deliver superior and
sustainable economic returns to shareholders within acceptable
levels of volatility and maintain balance sheet strength. The group
seeks to achieve this through specific growth strategies in both its
domestic market and the rest of Africa, supported by the effective
allocation of capital, funding and risk appetite:

FirstRand increased normalised earnings to R21.3 billion and
delivered a normalised ROE of 24.7%, very good results in the
current macroeconomic environment.

X

X

In its domestic market, the group will continue to protect and
grow its lending and transactional franchises through innovation,
disruption and specific cross-sell initiatives across group
customer bases. In addition, FirstRand believes it can capture
a larger share of profits from the broader financial services
markets, through leveraging its platforms, skills and proven
culture of innovation to deliver highly differentiated channels,
products and solutions, which enable customers to transact,
borrow, save, invest and insure.
In the rest of Africa, FirstRand is actively seeking to establish
meaningful banking franchises in those countries that the
group has prioritised as markets expected to show above
average economic growth, and which are well positioned to
benefit from the trade and investment flows between Africa,
India and China. These markets are mainly in the SADC region
and the west and east African hubs.

MEASURING PERFORMANCE
FirstRand believes that the true measures of value creation are
return on equity (ROE) and net income after capital charge
(NIACC). FirstRand’s ROE target range for normal economic
circumstances is 18% to 22% and it believes that this range is
sustainable going forward.

The operational performance was mainly driven by a strong net
interest income (NII) performance. This was on the back of a 12%
increase in advances and 13% in deposits. Asset repricing in
certain areas, such as cards and retail (other) were off-set by lower
margins in vehicle asset finance (VAF), WesBank Corporate and
the investment banking book.

Contribution to
normalised earnings

(%)
100
90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
J WesBank
J RMB
J FNB

10
0

11
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continued

Non-interest revenue (NIR), including profits from associates and joint ventures, increased 8%. Another
strong performance by FNB in line with its strategy to grow fee and commission income was experienced,
increasing NIR by 9%.Operating cost increased 10% despite further investment in infrastructure. Nonperforming loans (NPLs) were varied: The negative commodity price cycle led to specific provisions in RMB,
whilst residential mortgages and FNB personal loans decreased due to disciplined origination. Increases
were experienced in FNB Card and the business segment. All three franchises, FNB, RMB and WesBank,
delivered strong operational performances and continued to outperform the market. Below is a summary
of the performance by franchise:
FIRSTRAND’S BRANDS AND BUSINESSES
FNB represents FirstRand’s activities in the retail and commercial segments
in South Africa and the broader African continent. It is growing its franchise
strongly in both existing and new markets on the back of innovative
products and delivery channels, particularly focusing on electronic and
digital platforms.

RMB represents the group’s activities in the corporate and investment
banking segments in South Africa, the broader African continent and India.
RMB’s primary strategy is to generate more income from client-driven
activities, anchored around a risk appetite designed to effectively manage
the trade-offs between earnings volatility, profit growth and returns. This
strategy, coupled with steady investment return and a growing focus on
originating asset management products, is delivering a high quality and
sustainable earnings and return profile.

WesBank represents the group’s activities in instalment finance in the retail
and corporate and commercial segments in South Africa, the UK and the
rest of Africa. There are five distinct business units delivering these services
into their chosen markets, using a partnership model which includes
leading manufacturers and large dealer groups in the automotive market,
equipment suppliers in the corporate space and companies with large
diversified client bases in the personal loans space. This represents a unique
business model, differentiated through highly innovative products and
processes.
Ashburton Investments is the new generation investment manager, bringing
together the investment expertise from across FirstRand. Assets under
management exceed R126 billion as at 30 June 2015.
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FNB increased pre-tax profits 16%. The South African franchise
posted growth in both NII (+16%) and NIR (+9%). FNB produced an
improved ROE of 38.3%, which remains well above hurdle rates,
despite ongoing investment in platforms and new territories. This is
a reflection of the strength and quality of FNB’s transactional
franchise, its optimisation of credit risk capital and a growing
deposit franchise. FNB’s results were further influenced by the
following:
X
X

X

X

X

strong growth in both existing and new markets on the back
of innovative products and delivery channels;
a particular focus on electronic and digital platforms, ongoing
customer acquisition in target segments and increasing crosssell up 23%;
a continuation of the migration of its customer base onto
electronic channels; electronic transactional volumes were up
14%, online transactions up 15%, banking application up 69%
and mobile up 25%;
the drive for credit card as a transactional product resulted in
13% growth in volumes, underpinned by good growth in new
active accounts of 6%;
the bad debt charge dropped to 0.79% of advances, with
NPLs trending down to 2.63%, whilst overall provisioning levels
remained conservative with overlays maintained.

FNB’s subsidiaries in the rest of Africa performed well, growing pretax profits 16%. Namibia, in particular, generated significantly
higher profits on the back of balance sheet growth, improved
margins and increased transactional volumes. Botswana and
Mozambique experienced some cyclical and funding headwinds;
Zambia and Tanzania continued to invest in footprint and product
roll-out.
RMB produced solid results for the year, with pre-tax profits
increasing 8% to R8.3 billion and the business delivering a very
satisfactory ROE of 25%. RMB’s results were influenced by the
following:

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

the changed strategy of generating more income from client
driven activities, coupled with steady investment return and a
growing focus on originating asset management products,
delivered a high quality and sustainable earnings and return
profile;
corporate and transactional banking activities performed well,
benefiting from focused client coverage initiatives, increased
demand for trade and working capital products and higher
deposit balances. This was, however, offset by increased credit
provisions against specific NPL exposures;
markets and structuring activities delivered a solid performance,
despite challenging market conditions and increased competitive
pressures;
bespoke structuring transactions produced significant earnings
growth, as did the operations in the rest of Africa;
additional benefits from increased local and international
price volatility within fixed income currency and commodity
markets;
Private Equity producing excellent growth and continuing to
benefit from the quality and diversity of its portfolio, reporting
strong equity accounted earnings and solid income from
investment subsidiaries; and
a significant realisation and, despite this, the unrealised value
of the portfolio increasing to R4.9 billion (June 2014: R3.9 billion).

WesBank continues to deliver a resilient performance despite its
sensitivity to the local retail credit cycle. Solid growth in new business
volumes underpinned a 9% increase in profits to R4.7 billion, an ROE
of 23.2% and an ROA of 1.82%. These results reflect the strength of
WesBank’s franchise, adherence to disciplined credit origination
and effective sales channels. WesBank’s results were influenced by
the following:
X
X

new business volumes increased across all of WesBank’s retail
portfolios, but remain within appropriate risk parameters;
overall production was up 9% year-on-year, with personal
loans and MotoNovo origination volumes increasing 9% and
44% (in GBP terms) respectively;
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continued

X

X

X

local retail VAF’s performance continues to be impacted by

operating environment. FirstRand, however, recognises the

the pressures facing consumers, with advances fairly flat year-

imperative to continue to protect and grow these franchises.

on-year;

The group believes this can be achieved through executing on

NPLs as a percentage of advances are up 22% year-on-year,

disruptive and innovative strategies to deliver differentiated

but remain inflated by the high proportion of restructured

offerings to customers. In addition, the appropriate level of cross-

debt review accounts (39% of NPLs), most of which are still

sell available through collaboration across all of the franchises is

paying according to arrangement;

still not fully realised.

NIR, including income from associates, increased 12% mainly
as a result of stronger inflows from insurance income in the VAF

X

Opportunities which exist:

and personal loans portfolios as well as robust fee income on

X

60% of WesBank’s customer base is not banked by FNB; and

the back of advances growth; and

X

the recent acquisition of 100% of Direct Axis, which has

growth in core operating costs remained below inflation,

a customer base that is also significantly underpenetrated

increasing 3%, and WesBank’s cost-to-income ratio decreased

by FNB.

year-on-year, reflecting excellent cost containment.

FirstRand believes that an opportunity exists to capture a larger

WesBank’s rest of Africa business grew advances 10% year-on-year.

share of profits from the broader financial services markets, including

Interest margins are trending down, mainly due to higher funding

savings, insurance and investment products, currently the domain

and liquidity costs and the ongoing shift in mix from fixed rate to

of asset managers and insurance companies. These activities

floating rate business.

currently represent only 12% of gross revenue and many of them
have become more attractive following changes in regulations.

CAPITAL

FirstRand is currently investing in a number of initiatives in the

FirstRand has maintained its very strong capital position, FirstRand’s

license. FNB is driving the long-term insurance strategy on behalf

total capital requirement is 16.7%, exceeding the regulatory

of the group and is building an appropriate platform to launch risk

minimum requirement of 10%. Capital planning is undertaken on a

products. It is envisaged that the current activities of FNB Life will

three-year forward-looking basis and the level and composition

move onto this platform.

take into account organic growth, stress-testing scenario outcomes,

Post the year-end, WesBank and Hollard formalised its long-

regulatory and accounting changes and macroeconomic

standing relationship by establishing a new holding company of

conditions. FirstRand believes it current levels of capital are

which WesBank will own 81% and Hollard 19%. This entity will

appropriate.

consolidate the existing insurance products and include the

insurance space and in March 2015 acquired its own life insurance

acquisition of two other entities, Motorite and SMART. The objective

STRATEGIES TO ENSURE
SUSTAINABILIT Y OF GROW TH AND
RETURNS

of this initiative will be to offer the best value-added motor

FirstRand’s strategy for the last 5 years was to achieve significant

combining resources, it is envisaged that, going forward, WesBank

market share of profits in traditional banking activities, namely

will be in a very strong position to provide innovative and competitively

retail and wholesale lending, transactional and related endowment.

priced solutions for vehicle buyers. This initiative is conditional upon

The high quality of the lending and transactional franchises that

receiving approval from the applicable regulatory bodies.

reside in FNB, RMB and WesBank are a direct result of this strategy.

products in the market. Motorite offers a variety of vehicle warranty
and maintenance products, while SMART specialises in body
repair cover and offers paint and dent protection products. By

Investment management is another market where FirstRand believes

This market positioning will stand the domestic franchises in

it can build a differentiated offering. Ashburton Investments will

good stead moving into what is expected to be a more difficult

play an integral part of the group’s investment management
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strategy. Ashburton Investments offers both traditional and alternative
products. It is well positioned to utilise the distribution channels of
FNB and RMB’s asset origination skills. Ashburton’s expanded
growth strategy is now achieving traction.

As the group’s primary objective is to produce superior returns for
its shareholders and its key performance measurement is net
income after capital charge (NIACC), the majority of the growth
initiatives outlined above are “capital light” and seek to drive
growth in NIR and enhance ROE. The group’s revenues and
earnings are also geographically highly concentrated, with less
than 12% of gross revenue generated from outside of its domestic
market. Therefore, in parallel with its domestic growth strategy, the
group is also actively seeking to establish meaningful banking
franchises in those countries in the rest of Africa prioritised as
markets expected to show above average economic growth and
which are well positioned to benefit from the trade and investment
flows between Africa, India and China. These markets are mainly
in the SADC region and the west and east African hubs.
FirstRand is not targeting a preferred level of earnings from outside
of South Africa, as it believes the ultimate outcome of its strategy
must be predicated on a disciplined approach to capital allocation
and result in appropriate returns on the cost of that capital
for shareholders. The group does, however, believe that certain
territories in the rest of Africa offer attractive opportunities with
execution currently taking the form of the following three pillars:
1.

utilise the capabilities of the South African franchise, particularly
the domestic balance sheet, intellectual capital, international
platforms and the existing operating footprint in the rest
of Africa;

2.

start an in-country franchise and grow organically; and

3.

acquire small-to medium-sized in-country franchises where it
makes commercial sense.

It is anticipated that the deployment of capital going forward will
be concentrated on pillars 2 and 3.

For a comprehensive, in-depth review of FirstRand’s
performance, RMH shareholders are referred to
FirstRand’s integrated report, which is available on
www.firstrand.co.za.
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OUR GOVERNANCE AND SUSTAINABILITY
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EFFECTIVE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FORMS PART OF OUR INVESTMENT
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA, WHICH IS FURTHER MONITORED BY NON-EXECUTIVE BOARD
REPRESENTATION ON INVESTEE COMPANY BOARDS.
SCOPE

of the group and ensures that we are seen as a responsible

Our discussion on corporate governance in this annual integrated

communication policy and ensuring that spokespersons of the

report is limited to notable aspects of the corporate governance

company adhere to it. This responsibility includes clear, transparent,

of this company, RMH.

balanced and truthful communication to shareholders and relevant

FirstRand discloses relevant information on corporate
governance in its own annual integrated reports, which
can be accessed at www.firstrand.co.za.
In South Africa, principles and guidelines for corporate governance
are set by:
X

King III; and

X

the Companies Act.

corporate citizen. The board is also responsible for formulating our

stakeholders.
The board has a fiduciary duty to act in good faith, with due care
and diligence and in the best interests of the group and its
stakeholders. It is the primary body responsible for the corporate
governance values of the group. While control is delegated to
management in the day-to-day management of the group, the
board retains full and effective control over the group. A formal
board charter, as recommended by King III, has been adopted. All

The Companies Act places certain duties on directors and

directors subscribe to a code of ethics. The code deals with duties

determines that they should apply the necessary care and skill in

of care and skill, as well as those of good faith, including honesty,

fulfilling their duties. To ensure that this is achieved, the board

integrity and the need to always act in the best interest of the

applies best practice principles, as contained in King III, where

company. Procedures exist in terms of which unethical business

appropriate. We and all our investees endorse King III. As a JSE-

practices can be brought to the attention of the board by

listed entity, we also comply with the JSE Listings Requirements.

directors or employees.

We have an “owner-manager” culture, which has been inculcated

Board members have full and unrestricted access to management

at every business in which we are invested. So, whilst our board is

and all group information and property. They are entitled, at the

responsible for the maintenance of sound corporate governance,

cost of the group, to seek independent professional advice in the

we believe that implementation is best managed at an investee

fulfilment of their duties. Directors may meet separately with

company level. Therefore FirstRand has its own governance

management, without the attendance of executive directors.

structures, including board of directors, executive teams and
board committees that monitor operations and deal with
governance and transformation-related issues.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

After evaluating their performance in terms of their respective
charters, the directors are of the opinion that the board and the
sub-committees have discharged all their responsibilities.

DEFINITION OF INDEPENDENCE
An independent, non-executive director is a non-executive

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The board’s paramount responsibility is to ensure that we create
value for our shareholders. In so doing, it takes into account the
legitimate interests and expectations of stakeholders, which
include the present and potential future investors in RMH.
In terms of its formal charter, the board’s responsibilities include the

director who:
X

control or significantly influence management of the board;
X

does not have a direct or indirect interest in the company
which exceeds 5% of the shares in issue;

X

does not have a direct or indirect interest which is material to
his/her personal wealth;

appointment of the chief executive and the approval of corporate
strategy, risk management and corporate governance. The board

is not a representative of a shareholder who has the ability to

X

has not been employed or is not immediate family of an

reviews and approves the business plans and monitors the

individual who was employed by the company or the group

financial performance of the group and implementation of the

of which it currently forms part in any executive capacity

strategies. The board is the guardian of the values and ethics

during the preceding three financial years;
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X

is not a professional advisor to the company or the group;

X

does not receive remuneration contingent upon the
performance of the company;

X

does not participate in a share incentive scheme/option
scheme of the company; and

X

is free from any business or other relationship which could be
seen by an objective outsider to interfere materially with the
individual’s capacity to act in an independent manner.

TERM OF OFFICE
Non-executive directors retire by rotation every three years and
are eligible for re-election. Re-appointment of non-executive
directors is not automatic. The retirement age of the nonexecutive directors is set at 70. RMH believes that FirstRand has
a strong pipeline of executives whose natural career progression
would be to serve on the RMH board.
The chief executive has an employment contract that can, subject

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

to fair labour practices, be terminated upon one month’s notice.

We have a unitary board with a non-executive director as

In terms of our memorandum of incorporation, the retirement age

chairman. The chairman is not independent in terms of the

of an executive director is 60, but the board has the discretion to

definition above. However, the board believes that GT Ferreira’s

extend it to 65.

specialist knowledge of the financial services industry makes it
appropriate for him to hold this position.
The roles of chairman and chief executive are separate and
the composition of the board ensures a balance of authority,
precluding any one director from exercising unfettered powers of
decision-making. The directors are individuals of a high calibre

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
It is not a requirement of our memorandum of incorporation or the
board charter that directors own shares in the company.

Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the company
are disclosed on page 59.

with diverse backgrounds and expertise, facilitating independent
judgment and broad deliberations in the decision-making process.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The board each year evaluates its composition to ensure an

The board meets once every quarter. Should an important matter

appropriate mix of skills and experience.

arise between scheduled meetings, additional meetings may be

As at 11 September 2015, the board comprised 14 members, 13 of

convened.

whom are non-executive directors. Six of the non-executive

Before each board meeting, an information pack, which provides

directors are also independent directors. Pat Goss is the lead

background information on the performance of the group for the

independent non-executive director. The independence of the

year to date and any other matters for discussion at the meeting,

directors classified as “independent” was evaluated by weighing

is distributed to each board member. At their meetings, the board

all relevant factors, including length of service, which may impair

considers both financial – and non-financial, or qualitative-,

independence.
New directors are subject to a “fit and proper” test. An informal
orientation programme is available to incoming directors. No
director has an automatic right to a position on the board. All
directors are required to be elected by shareholders at an annual

information that might have an impact on stakeholders.

Details of the board meetings held during the year
ended 30 June 2015, as well as the attendance at the
board meetings and annual general meeting by
individual directors, are disclosed on page 33.

general meeting. In a general meeting, the company may
appoint any person to be a director, subject to the provisions of

COMPANY SECRETARY

the memorandum of incorporation.

Our board-appointed company secretary is Ellen Marais, BCom

For details of directors’ full names, their dates of
appointment and other listed directorships as well as
brief career and sphere of influence synopsis of each of
the directors, refer to pages 34 to 37.
The boards of our major investments and operating divisions are

(Hons), CA(SA). All directors have unlimited access to her services
and she is responsible to the board for ensuring that proper
corporate governance principles are adhered to. She maintains
an arm’s length relationship with the board of directors and is not
a director of RMH.

similarly constituted with the necessary mix of skills, experience

The board confirmed that the company secretary had adequately

and diversity. There is also an appropriate mix between executive

and effectively performed and carried out her roles and duties as

and non-executive appointments.

the gatekeeper of good governance in RMH.
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continued

BOARD COMMIT TEES
The board established five sub-committees to assist the directors in fulfilling their duties and responsibilities. The committees and their
members are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
GT Ferreira (chair)

ARC

DAGC

NC

RC

SETC

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE

DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS
AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL, ETHICS AND
TRANSFORMATION
COMMITTEE

Jan Dreyer
(chairman)
–
Sonja De BruynSebotsa
–
Per Lagerström

Pat Goss (chairman)
–
All non-executive
directors

Pat Goss (chairman)
–
GT Ferreira
–
Albertina Kekana
–
Murphy Morobe
–
Per Lagerström

Jannie Durand
(chairman)
–
Sonja De BruynSebotsa
–
Pat Goss

Sonja De BruynSebotsa
(chairperson)
–
Jan Dreyer
–
Per Lagerström

See the committee’s
report on page 38.

See the committee’s
report on page 40.

See the committee’s
report on page 42.

See the committee’s
report on page 43.

See the committee’s
report on page 45.

Each committee has a formal charter and reports to the board at regular intervals. The charters, which set out the objectives, authority,
composition and responsibilities of each committee, have been approved by the board. All the committees are free to take independent
outside professional advice, as and when required, at the expense of the company.
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BOARD MEETINGS
The board met four times during the year, attended as follows:

GT Ferreira (chairman)
Herman Bosman
Johan Burger
Peter Cooper
Leon Crouse
Laurie Dippenaar
Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa
Jan Dreyer
Jannie Durand (alternate)
Pat Goss
Paul Harris
Albertina Kekana
Per Lagerström
Murphy Morobe (appointed 1 August 2014)
Obakeng Phetwe (Alternate)
Khehla Shubane
9 Attended meeting

September
2014

November
2014

March
2015

June
2015

9
9
9
9
9
9
9
A
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9

9
9
9
9
9
9
A
9
9
9
A
A
9
9
9
9

9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9

9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9

A – Apology received

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
All the directors, except for Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa, Paul Harris and Albertina Kekana, attended the annual general meeting of shareholders,
which was held on 21 November 2014.
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DIRECTORS CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

We are fortunate to call on our extensively skilled and vastly experienced board for their governance and oversight in achieving our
strategic goals and delivering value to all our stakeholders.

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
FINANCIAL DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Gerrit Thomas
(GT) Ferreira (67)

Hermanus Lambertus
(Herman) Bosman (46)

Patrick Maguire
(Pat) Goss (67)

Sonja Emilia Ncumisa
(Sonja) De Bruyn-Sebotsa (43)

(chairman)

BCom (Law), LLB, LLM, CFA

BCom, Hons B (B&A), MBA

(lead independent)
(chairman)

(chairman)

(chairperson)

BEcon (Hons), BAccSc (Hons),
CA(SA)

LLB (Hons), LSE, MA (McGill), SFA (UK),
Executive Leadership Programme
(Harvard)

Appointed: 12 November 1987

Appointed: 2 April 2014

Appointed: 12 November 1987

Appointed: 15 February 2008

GT was a co-founder of RCI in
1977, which acquired control
of RMB in 1985. When RMH
was founded in 1987, he was
appointed chairman, a position
which he still holds. Following
the formation of FirstRand, he
was appointed non-executive
chairman from 1998 to 2008.

Herman was with RMB for 12
years and ultimately headed up
its corporate ﬁnance practice
between 2000 and 2006. He
returned to the group in 2014
after serving as chief executive of
Deutsche Bank South Africa from
2006 to 2013.

After graduating from the
University of Stellenbosch as
the president of the Association
of Economics and Commerce
Student, representing South Africa
at the Hague and Basel, Pat
qualiﬁed as chartered accountant
with Ernst and Young. He started
his career at the Industrial
Development Corporation and
has served as a director on various
group companies for the past
35 years. He has a passion for
conservation and has served as
chairman of Natal Parks Board. His
family interests include Umngazi
River Bungalows and various other
conservation related activities.

Sonja is a principal partner of
Identity Partners, an investment
ﬁrm which holds equity
investments, carries out advisory
work and facilitates ﬁnance for
SMEs by the Identity Development
Fund. Sonja’s areas of study
included law, business and
economics which served her
well as vice president of Mergers
and Acquisitions and Corporate
Finance of the investment banking
division of Deutsche Bank. She
played integral part in WDB
Investment Holdings participating
in FirstRand BEE transactions.

Other listed directorships
Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited (chairman) and Remgro
Limited (lead independent)

Other listed directorships
Discovery Limited and Rand
Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited (chief executive)

Other listed directorships
FirstRand Limited and Rand
Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited (lead independent)

Other listed directorships
Aquarius Platinum Limited
(chairperson), Discovery Limited
and Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Jan Willem (Jan) Dreyer (64)

Per-Erik (Per) Lagerström (51)

Maﬁson Murphy
(Murphy) Morobe (58)

Khehla Cleopas
(Khehla) Shubane (59)

Diploma in Project Management,
MCEF – Princeton ’91

BA (Hons), MBA

(chairman)
BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law, HDip Tax

BSc (Accounting), MSc (Economics)
(London School of Economics)

Appointed: 19 October 1987

Appointed: 30 June 2014

Appointed: 1 August 2014

Appointed: 25 November 1993

Jan was a partner in Hofmeyr,
Van der Merwe and Botha from
1978 and chairman of the ﬁrm
from 1993 until 1999. He joined the
board of RMB in 1984 and RMH on
formation. In 2000 he joined the
Rembrandt group as an executive
director. At the time of the split of
Remgro and Venﬁn he became
non-executive director of both
companies. He was re-appointed
as an executive director of
Remgro in 2008.

Per is the co-founder of the
Energos group, specialists in big
data solutions for human capital.
Previously he was a partner at
McKinsey & Company, where he
headed up the Financial Services
Sector and the Organisation
Practice.

Murphy has a career spanning
more than 30 years, covering the
worlds of student activism, trade
unionism, the public sector, politics,
youth development, environment
and conservation.

Khehla served various political
organisations after incarceration
on Robben Island for political
activism. He is an author and
has co-authored several political
publications.

Other listed directorships
Remgro Limited and Rand
Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited

Other listed directorships
MMI Holdings Limited and Rand
Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited

Other listed directorships
Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited

Other listed directorships
Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited

KEY:
=

Audit and risk committee

=

Directors’ affairs and governance committee

=

Nominations committee

=

Remuneration committee

=

Social, ethics and transformation committee
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continued

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Johan Petrus
(Johan) Burger (56)

Peter Cooper (59)

Leon Crouse (62)

Lauritz Lanser
(Laurie) Dippenaar (66)

BCom (Hons), CA(SA), HDip Tax

CA(SA)

BCom (Hons), CA(SA)

MCom, CA(SA)

Appointed: 30 June 2014

Appointed: 11 September 2014

Appointed: 25 May 2011

Appointed: 12 November 1987

Johan joined RMB in 1986 and
became executive director in
1995. In January 2009 he was
appointed FirstRand Limited
ﬁnancial director, a position he
relinquished in January 2014
after being appointed deputy
chief executive in October 2013.
Subsequent to the retirement
of Sizwe Nxasana in September
2015, Johan was appointed chief
executive of FirstRand.

Peter has extensive experience
in ﬁnancial services ﬁrst as tax
consultant and then as structured
ﬁnance expert. He joined RMB’s
Special Projects division in 1992
and transferred to RMH in 1997. He
is the immediate past CEO of RMH
as well as RMI.

Leon joined the former Rembrandt
group in 1986 and transferred to
Switzerland to hold the position of
ﬁnancial controller of Compagnie
Financiére Richemont AG. He was
part of the team that unbundled
the luxury goods business from
the Rembrandt group to form
the separately listed Richemont.
In 1993 he become a founder
member of the Vodacom group
executive team and thereafter
served as its chief ﬁnancial ofﬁcer.
He joined Remgro in 2008.

Laurie was co-founder of RCI in
1977. He became an executive
director of RMB in 1985 and
managing director of RMB in
1988, a position he held until
1992, when RMH acquired a
controlling interest in Momentum.
He served as executive chairman
of Momentum from 1992 until
the formation of FirstRand in
1998. He was appointed as the
ﬁrst chief executive of FirstRand
and held this position until the
end of 2005, when he assumed
a non-executive role. He has
been chairman of FirstRand since
November 2008.

Other listed directorships
FirstRand Limited, MMI Holdings
Limited and Rand Merchant
Insurance Holdings Limited

Other listed directorships
FirstRand Limited
(alternate),Imperial Holdings
Limited and Rand Merchant
Insurance Holdings Limited

Other listed directorships
FirstRand Limited, MMI Holdings
Limited, Remgro Limited and Rand
Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited (alternate)

Other listed directorships
FirstRand Limited and Rand
Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Paul Harris (65)

Albertina Kekana (42)

BCom (Hons), CA(SA), Advanced
Management Programme (Harvard)

MCom

ALTERNATE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

ALTERNATE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Jan Jonathan
(Jannie) Durand (48)

Obakeng Phetwe (37)

(chairman)

BCom (Hons), CA(SA)

BAcc (Hons), MPhil (Oxford), CA(SA)

Appointed: 12 November 1987

Appointed: 6 February 2013

Appointed: 17 September 2012

Paul was a co-founder of RCI
in 1977 and he became an
executive director of RMB in 1985.
He spent four years in Australia,
where he founded Australian
Gilt Securities (later to become
RMB Australia) and returned to
South Africa in 1991 as deputy
managing director of RMB. In 1992
he took over as chief executive.
Subsequent to the formation of
FirstRand, he was appointed as
chief executive of FirstRand Bank
Holdings in 1999, a position he held
until December 2005 when he
was appointed as chief executive
of FirstRand. He retired from his
executive position at the end of
December 2009.

Albertina Kekana is the CEO
of Royal Bafokeng Holdings
Proprietary Limited. She has
extensive asset management,
investment banking and business
leadership experience. She was
previously the COO of the Public
Investment Corporation.

Jannie, a Rhodes Scholar, is the
chief executive of Remgro Limited
and, before its delisting, he was
the ﬁnancial director and chief
executive of Venﬁn Limited.

Other listed directorships
Impala Platinum Holdings Limited,
and Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited (alternate)

Other listed directorships
FirstRand Limited, Rand Merchant
Insurance Holdings Limited and
Remgro Limited

KEY:
=

Audit and risk committee

=

Directors’ affairs and governance committee

=

Nominations committee

=

Remuneration committee

=

Social, ethics and transformation committee

Other listed directorships
Discovery Limited, Distell Group
Limited, Grindrod Limited, FirstRand
Limited, Mediclinic International
Limited, RCL Foods Limited, Rand
Merchant Insurance Holdings
Limited,Remgro Limited and
Unilever South Holdings Limited

Obakeng is the CEO of the Royal
Bafokeng Nation Development
Trust, which holds all the
commercial assets on behalf of
the Royal Bafokeng Nation.
Other listed directorships
Impala Platinum Holdings Limited,
and Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited

38

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
At the meetings, the members fulfilled all their functions as
prescribed by section 94 (7) of the Companies Act and its charter
as approved by the board. The committee’s objectives are to
assist the board of directors in fulfilling its fiduciary duties with
regard to:

ARC

The audit and risk committee has pleasure in submitting this
report, as required in terms of the Companies Act of
South Africa (Companies Act).

X
X
X
X
X

AUDIT AND RISK COMMIT TEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

X

The audit and risk committee is an independent statutory committee
and consists of three non-executive directors who act independently
as described in section 94 of the Companies Act. Its members
comprise the chairman, Jan Dreyer BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law, HDip
Tax, Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa LLB (Hons) LSE, MA (McGill), SFA and
Per Lagerström BSc (Accounting), MSc (Economics) (London School
of Economics).
The chairman is an independent, non-executive director and attends
the annual general meeting.
The committee meets at least twice a year or at the request of
the chairman, any member of the committee, the board or the
auditor. Comprehensive minutes of meetings are kept. The chief
executive/financial director attends the meetings. The committee
invites, at its discretion, the appropriate representatives of the
external auditor, other professional advisors, officers or members of
staff whose input may be required. Board members have the right
of attendance. The chairman may excuse from the meeting or
from any item on the agenda any of the attendees at a meeting
who may be considered to have a conflict of interest.
During the year under review, two meetings were held. At the
meetings, the members fulfilled all their functions as prescribed by
the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and its charter
as approved by the board.
The attendance at the two meetings was as follows:
September
2014

March
2015

9
9
A
–

9
9
–
9

Jan Dreyer
Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa
Pat Goss
Per Lagerström
9 Attended meeting A – Apology received

– Not a member at the time

X
X
X
X

the safeguarding of the group’s assets;
the financial reporting process;
the system of internal control;
the management of financial and non-financial risks;
the audit process and approval of non-audit services;
the group’s process for monitoring compliance with the laws
and regulations applicable to it; the group’s compliance with
the corporate governance practices;
review of the annual integrated report;
the business conduct of the group and its officials;
the accounting policies applied are consistent, appropriate
in compliance with IFRS and
the appointment of the external auditor and the evaluation
of their services and independence.

THE FINANCE FUNCTION
The committee considered and satisfied itself of the appropriateness
of the expertise and adequacy of resources of the finance function.
The committee reviewed the performance, appropriateness and
expertise of the financial director, Herman Bosman, and the company
secretary, Ellen Marais, and confirms that they are suitable as
financial director and company secretary respectively in terms of
the JSE Listings Requirements.

EFFECTIVENESS OF COMPANY ’S
INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS
The committee reports to the board that it is of the opinion that
based on enquiries made and the reports from the internal and
external auditors, the risk management processes and systems of
internal control of the company and its investments were effective
for the year under review. No material weaknesses in financial
control of the company and its subsidiaries were reported for the
year under review.

39
2015 RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT

INDEPENDENCE OF THE
EXTERNAL AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was appointed as auditor of the
company until the next annual general meeting.
The committee believes that the auditor has observed the highest
level of business and professional ethics. The committee is satisfied
that the auditor has at all times acted with unimpaired independence.

Details of fees paid to the external auditor are disclosed
in note 15 to the annual financial statements. No nonaudit services were provided during the current financial
year.
The partner responsible for the audit is required to rotate every five
years. The committee meets with the auditor independently of
senior management.

INTEGRATED ASSURANCE
The board does not only rely on the adequacy of the internal control
embedment process, but considers reports on the effectiveness
of risk management activities. The audit and risk committee ensures
that the assurance functions of management as well as internal
and external audit are sufficiently integrated.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The company outsources its internal audit function to Remgro
Management Services Limited. Internal audit is an effective
independent appraisal function and employs a risk-based audit
approach. The head of internal audit has direct access to the
chairman of the audit and risk committee, as well as to the
chairman of the board.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The company’s external auditor attends all audit and risk
committee meetings and the annual general meeting of
shareholders and has direct access to the chairman of the audit
and risk committee and the chairman of the board. The external
audit scope of work is adequately integrated with the internal
audit function without restricting the scope.
The audit and risk committee is of the opinion that, based on
enquiries made and the reports from the internal and external
auditors, the risk management processes and systems of internal
control of the company were effective for the year under review.
The audit and risk committee has also satisfied itself that there are
effective audit committees functioning at the company’s associates.

The various assurance providers to the board comprise the following:
X

X

senior management considers the company’s risk strategy
and policy, along with the effectiveness and efficiency thereof;
and
the audit and risk committee considers the adequacy of risk
management strategies, systems of internal control, risk profiles,
legal compliance, internal and external audit reports and also
reviews the independence of the auditor, the extent and
nature of audit engagements, scope of work and findings. This
committee also reviews the level of disclosure in the annual
financial statements and the appropriateness of accounting
policies adopted by management, the ethics register and other
loss incidents reported. The board reviews the performance of
the audit and risk committee against its charter.

Jan Dreyer

Chairman of the audit and risk committee
11 September 2015
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X
X

the self-assessment of the effectiveness of the board as a
whole and the contribution of each director; and
ensuring that succession plans are in place for the key
positions in the greater group.

GOVERNANCE EFFECTIVENESS

DAGC
The directors’ affairs and governance committee has
pleasure in submitting its report:

DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS AND
GOVERNANCE COMMIT TEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS
The committee comprises all the non-executive directors. The
committee is chaired by the lead independent non-executive
director. The committee meets at least twice annually with
additional meetings when required at the request of the board or
any committee member or as often as it deems necessary to
achieve its objectives. Comprehensive minutes of meetings are
kept. The committee may invite any of the directors, professional
advisors or officers whose input may be required to the meetings.
The chairman may excuse from the meeting or from any item on
the agenda any of the attendees at a meeting who may be
considered to have a conflict of interest, or for confidentiality reasons.
Since all non-executive directors are members of this committee,
matters relating to the charter of this committee are normally
dealt with as an integral part of the normal proceedings of the
quarterly board meetings. It is usual for the chief executive to
excuse himself from the meeting. The committee met four times
during the year.

Attendance was as per the board meetings attendance
on page 33.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The committee’s primary objectives are to assist the board in
discharging its responsibilities relative to:
X

its determination and evaluation of the adequacy, efficiency
and appropriateness of the corporate governance structures
in the company;

X

board and board committee structures;

X

the maintenance of a board directorship continuity programme;

During the year under review, the board conducted evaluations to
measure its effectiveness and that of its members. The evaluations
found no material concerns in respect of the board and board
committee performance. The directors are aware of the need to
convey to the chairman any concerns that they might have in
respect of the performance and conduct of their peers. The
performance of the chief executive is also formally evaluated at
least once per year.

ETHICS
Upon joining the group, all directors are obliged to sign a code of
ethics. The code of ethics addresses duties of care and skill, good
faith, honesty and integrity, whistle blowing, processes for dealing
with conflicts of interest and the need to always act in the best
interests of the group. The soliciting or acceptance of payments
other than declared remuneration, gifts and entertainment as
consideration to act or fail to act in a certain way, is disallowed.
The group does not make political donations.
No issues of improper or unethical behaviour on the part of any of
the directors were brought to the attention of the committee
during the year.

CONFLICTS
Mechanisms are in place to recognise, respond to and manage
any potential conflicts of interest. Directors are required to sign a
declaration stating that they are not aware of any undeclared
conflicts of interest that may exist due to their interest in, or
association with any other company. In addition, directors disclose
interests in contracts that are of significance to the group’s
business and do not participate in the voting process of these
matters.
All information acquired by directors in the performance of their
duties, which is not disclosed publicly, is treated as confidential.
Directors may not use, or appear to use, such information for
personal advantage or for the advantage of third parties.
All directors of the company are required to comply with the
code of ethics and the requirements of the JSE regarding inside
information, transactions and disclosure of transactions.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the company
adopted a code of ethics to avoid insider trading. During the
closed periods (as defined), directors and designated employees
are prohibited from dealing in the company’s securities. Outside
closed periods, directors and designated employees may only
deal in the company’s securities with the authorisation of the
chairman of the board. The closed periods last from the end of a
financial reporting period until the publication of financial results
for that period. Additional closed periods may be declared from
time to time if circumstances warrant it. The company has a
detailed personal account trading policy, which directors need to
adhere to as well.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN ORDINARY SHARES
The directors’ report, on page 59, contains a table of all
directors in the ordinary shares of the company.

Pat Goss

Chairman of the directors’ affairs and governance committee
11 September 2015
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NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT
NOMINATION, SELECTION AND
APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

NC

The nominations committee has pleasure in submitting
its report:

NOMINATIONS COMMIT TEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS
The committee is made up of three independent non-executive
directors and two non-executive directors. It is chaired by the lead
independent director of the board. The committee meets at least
twice annually with additional meetings when required at the
request of the board or any committee member or as often as it
deems necessary to achieve its objectives. Comprehensive
minutes of meetings are kept. The committee may invite any of the
directors, professional advisors or officers whose input may be
required to the meetings. The chairman may excuse from the
meeting or from any item on the agenda any of the attendees at
a meeting who may be considered to have a conflict of interest,
or for confidentiality reasons.
Matters relating to the charter of this committee are normally
dealt with as an integral part of the normal proceedings of the
quarterly board meetings. Only members of the committee are
allowed to vote on resolutions the remainder of the board may
attend the meeting. It is usual for the chief executive to excuse
himself from the meeting. The committee met four times during
the year.

Attendance was as per the board meetings attendance
on page 33.

The company has a formal and transparent policy regarding the
appointment of directors to the board. The nominations committee
makes recommendations to the board on the appointment of
new executive and non-executive directors. The board, in turn,
proposes approved candidates to the shareholders for appointment
at a general meeting.
The committee will first consider a proposed director’s CV and do
the necessary interviews and reference checks to establish the
integrity and skills of the person and to ensure that the person has
not been disqualified from being a director.
The committee will ensure that all statutory requirements for
the appointment are complied with and that the new director
is properly briefed on his/her roles and responsibilities, time
commitment, committee service and involvement outside board
meetings.

Pat Goss

Chairman of the nomination committee
11 September 2015
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
X

X
X

RC

The remuneration committee has pleasure in submitting this
report, as required in terms of the Companies Act. The
remuneration committee report provides an overview and
understanding of remuneration principles, policies and
practices with specific reference to executive directors,
investment team members, employees and non-executive
directors. The information in this report has been approved
by the board on recommendation of the remuneration
committee.

ensure that the remuneration policy implemented aligns the
interests of employees with those of shareholders and other
stakeholders;
consider non-executive directors’fees and make recommendations
to the board for approval by the shareholders; and
provide a channel of communication between the board and
management on remuneration matters.

The committee is mandated to:
X
X
X

X

oversee the establishment of a remuneration policy;
debate and approve the annual salary adjustments;
ensure that remuneration in cash, share appreciation rights
(SARs) and other elements are in line with the strategic
objectives of RMH; and
delegate any of its functions and the power to implement its
decisions.

REMUNERATION POLICY
REMUNERATION COMMIT TEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

Human resources are very important to deliver on RMH’s value
proposition, albeit on a different level than in an operating company.

The committee comprises three members, all of whom are nonexecutive directors. The committee meets at least once annually
or at the request of the chairman. The committee invites, at its
discretion, the appropriate representatives of the external auditor,
other professional advisors, officers or members of staff whose
input may be required.

RMH’s remuneration policy is:

The committee met once during the year and membership and
attendance were as follows:

X

July
2015
Jannie Durand (chairman)
Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa
Pat Goss

9
9
9

X
X
X

X

How do we do it?
X
X

9 Attended meeting

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The roles and responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:
X

assist the board in exercising its responsibility of ensuring that
fair reward practices are implemented in RMH and that the
disclosure of directors’ remuneration are in line with King III
principles, accurate and transparent;

to attract, retain and motivate employees;
align the rewards of employees with the risk exposure of
shareholders and other stakeholders;
ensure that the compensation of employees is affordable and
reasonable in terms of the value created for shareholders;
to protect the rights of RMH as an employer; and
to encourage behaviour that is consistent with the RMH code
of ethics, values and long-term strategy.

X

X

We protect the rights of RMH by means of a standard employment
contract.
We ensure that the fixed pay component, which comprises
salary, contributions to retirement funds and medical aid
schemes, reflects the value of the role and individual
performance and is benchmarked against the upper quartile
of comparable companies.
We do not pay short-term incentives as we do not believe it
is appropriate for an investment holding company, with the
exception of take-on bonuses for new employees, where
applicable.
We have implemented a long-term incentive plan and
ensured that employees’ personal wealth creation is aligned
with those of shareholders.
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continued

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
FIXED REMUNERATION
The fixed remuneration is based on the executive’s position and
responsibility. The chief executive, who attends all the meetings of
the remuneration committee by invitation, can propose increases
to guaranteed packages, excluding his own, during such review
meetings.
During the current year, salary increases ranged between 6% and
8%, depending on position and responsibility.

VARIABLE REMUNERATION
RMH Share appreciation rights (SAR) scheme
RMH currently has a cash-settled SARs scheme in place. Participants
are rewarded based on the increase of the value of the SARs that
must be exercised within a period of 7 years after the grant date.
The earliest intervals at which SARs can be exercised are as
follows:
X
X
X

one third after the third anniversary of the grant date;
two thirds after the fourth anniversary of the grant date; and
the remainder after the fifth anniversary of the grant date.

No specific performance criteria were stipulated for all issues made
before September 2015. The September 2015 issue will be the first
with performance criteria as set by the remuneration committee.
The performance criteria will be linked to GDP growth. Awards are
based on a multiple of the total guaranteed package and ranges
between multiples of 3 to 8 times, based on position and level of
responsibility. During 2014, with the appointment of Herman Bosman
as chief executive and the investment team, a once-off award was
made to create exposure equal to the guaranteed package times
the agreed multiple. Future awards will be made to maintain the
agreed multiple of guaranteed package and will not be at the
same levels of 2014.

Further details of the scheme are provided in note 26 to
the annual financial statements.

CONTRACTS OF EMPLOYMENT
Executive directors and other employees do not have fixed-term
contracts but are employed in terms of RMH’s standard contract
of employment. The notice period for terminations of service is one
calendar month and the normal retirement age ranges from 60 to
65 depending on the date of appointment. Good leaver principles
apply at the termination of services of executive directors but is at
the discretion of the remuneration committee.

NON-EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
Non-executive directors do not have employment contracts
and do not receive any benefits associated with permanent
employment. Furthermore, they do not participate in any longterm incentive schemes.
Non-executive directors are paid a fixed annual fee, based on
an agreed upon number of meetings. An hourly rate is used to
remunerate non-executive directors for ad hoc meetings. The
fees and hourly rate are reviewed annually and are subject to
approval by shareholders at RMH’s annual general meeting. Fees
are market related and take into account the nature of RMH’s
operations.

For detail disclosure of non-executive directors’
remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2015, refer
to page 57.

Jannie Durand

Chairman of the remuneration committee
11 September 2015

45
2015 RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT

SOCIAL, ETHICS AND TRANSFORMATION COMMITTEE REPORT
X

X

SETC

The social, ethics and transformation committee has pleasure
in submitting its report:

the environment, health and public safety, including the impact
of the company’s activities; consumer relationships, including
the company’s advertising, public relations and compliance
with consumer protection laws; and
labour and employment, including the standing in terms of
the International Labour Organisation Protocol on decent work
and working conditions, the company’s employment relationships
and its contribution toward the educational development of its
employees.

FIRSTRAND
SOCIAL, ETHICS AND
TRANSFORMATION COMMIT TEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

The social and ethics committee of FirstRand completed the following
duties during the year:
X

The committee comprises a minimum of three members and consists
only of independent, non-executive directors. The chairperson is an
independent, non-executive director.

X

The committee meets at least twice a year or at the request of
the chairperson, any member of the committee or the board.
Comprehensive minutes of meetings are kept.

X

The social, ethics and transformation committee met twice during
the year and attendance was as follows:

A

9
9

9
9

COMMIT TEE PROCEEDINGS

A

–

–

9

During the current year, the committee refined its work plan. As
part thereof, the committee reviewed the informal BEE scorecard
prepared for RMH. It reviewed reports submitted by FirstRand and
obtained a better understanding of the social and ethics oversight
framework of FirstRand. FirstRand did not escalate any material
matters to RMH.

Apology received – Not a member at the time

The committee’s objectives are to monitor:

X

X

March
2015

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

X

X

September
2014
Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa
(chairperson)
Jan Dreyer
Pat Goss
(resigned 21 November 2014)
Per Lagerström (appointed
21 November 2014)
9 Attended meeting

X

reviewed market conduct programme maturity with a focus
on management oversight platforms;
considered the effectiveness of market conduct management
interventions along several product lines in order to ensure
that the appropriate portfolio of evidence exists;
reviewed the outcome of several culture risk assessments;
considered FirstRand’s position in respect of environmental,
social and risk management disclosure;
reviewed the outcomes of special market conduct assessments
conducted in FirstRand; and
considered FirstRand’s environment, social and governance
disclosures, including those relating to Equator Principles and
carbon emissions.

the social and economic development, including the 10
principles as set out in the United Nations Global Compact
principles, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development recommendations regarding corruption, the
Employment Equity Act, 55 of 1998, and the Broad-Based
Black Economic Empowerment Act, 53 of 2003;
good corporate citizenship, including promotion of equality,
prevention of unfair discrimination, reduction of corruption,
contribution to the development of communities and record
of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving;

The chairperson of the committee attends the annual general
meeting to answer any questions that shareholders might have.

Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa

Chairperson of the social, ethics and transformation committee
11 September 2015
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KING III GAP ANALYSIS
The JSE Listings Requirements require all JSE-listed companies to provide a narrative on how it has applied the recommendations contained
in King III. Below is the King III gap analysis. RMH has complied with the King III principles for the full financial year ended 30 June 2015, unless
otherwise indicated.
Principle

Description

Status

1

Ethical leadership and corporate citizenship

1.1

The board should provide effective leadership on an ethical
foundation.

9

1.2

The board should ensure that the company is and is seen to be a
responsible corporate citizen.

9

1.3

The board should ensure that the company’s ethics are managed
effectively.

9

2

Board and directors

2.1

The board should act as a focal point for and custodian of
corporate governance.

9

2.2

The board should appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and
sustainability are inseparable.

9

2.3

The board should provide effective leadership based on an ethical
foundation.

9

2.4

The board should ensure that the company is and is seen to be a
responsible corporate citizen.

9

2.5

The board should ensure that the company’s ethics are managed
effectively.

9

2.6

The board should ensure that the company has an effective and
independent audit committee.

9

2.7

The board should be responsible for the governance of risk.

9

2.8

The board should be responsible for technology governance.

9

2.9

The board should ensure that the company complies with
applicable laws and considers adherence to non-binding rules,
codes and standards.

9

2.10

The board should ensure that there is an effective risk-based
internal audit.

9

2.11

The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect
the company’s reputation.

9

2.12

The board should ensure the integrity of the company’s
integrated report.

9

2.13

The board should report on the effectiveness of the company’s
internal controls.

9

2.14

The board and its directors should act in the best interests of the
company.

9

2.15

The board should consider business rescue proceedings or other
turnaround mechanisms as soon as the company is financially
distressed as defined in the Companies Act.

9

Explanation
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Principle

Description

Status

2.16

The board should elect a chairman of the board who is an
independent, non-executive director. The CEO of the company
should not also fulfil the role of chairman of the board.

X

2.17

The board should appoint the chief executive and establish a
framework for the delegation of authority.

9

2.18

The board should comprise a balance of power, with a majority of
non-executive directors. The majority of non-executive directors
should be independent.

X

2.19

Directors should be appointed through a formal process.

9

2.20

The induction of and ongoing training and development of directors
should be conducted through formal processes.

9

2.21

The board should be assisted by a competent, suitably qualified
and experienced company secretary.

9

2.22

The evaluation of the board, its committees and the individual
directors should be performed every year.

9

2.23

The board should delegate certain functions to well-structured
committees but without abdicating its own responsibilities.

9

2.24

A governance framework should be agreed between the group
and its subsidiary boards.

9

2.25

Companies should remunerate directors and executives fairly
and responsibly.

9

2.26

Companies should disclose the remuneration of each individual
director and certain senior executives.

X

2.27

Shareholders should approve the company’s remuneration policy.

9

3

Audit committee

3.1

The board should ensure that the company has an effective and
independent non-executive audit committee.

9

3.2

Audit committee members should be suitably skilled, experienced
and independent, non-executive directors.

9

3.3

The audit committee should be chaired by an independent,
non-executive director.

9

3.4

The audit committee should oversee integrated reporting.

9

Explanation
The chairman is a non-executive
director but is not independent. A lead
independent, non-executive director
was appointed.

Six of the 13 non-executive directors
are independent. RMH believes that all
board members are suitably qualified
and that the composition of the board
is in the best interest of all stakeholders,
without prejudice to them.

The individual directors’ remuneration is
disclosed, but not the salaries of the
three highest earners who are not
directors. RMH believes that this
disclosure is sufficient and
appropriately demonstrates alignment
between remuneration and
shareholders’ return.
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continued

Principle

Description

Status

3.5

The audit committee should ensure that a combined assurance
model is applied to provide a coordinated approach to all
assurance activities.

9

3.6

The audit committee should satisfy itself of the expertise, resources
and experience of the company’s finance function.

9

3.7

The audit committee should oversee the internal audit function.

9

3.8

The audit committee should be an integral component of the risk
management process.

9

3.9

The audit committee is responsible for recommending the
appointment of the external auditor and overseeing the external
audit process.

9

3.10

The audit committee should report to the board and shareholders
on how it has discharged its duties.

9

4

The governance of risk

4.1

The board should be responsible for the governance of risk.

9

4.2

The board should determine the levels of risk tolerance.

9

4.3

The risk or audit committee should assist the board in carrying out its
risk responsibilities.

9

4.4

The board should delegate to management the responsibility to
design, implement and monitor the risk management plan.

9

4.5

The board should ensure that risk assessments are performed on a
continual basis.

9

4.6

The board should ensure that frameworks and methodologies are
implemented to increase the probability of anticipating
unpredictable risks.

9

4.7

The board should ensure that management considers and
implements appropriate risk responses.

9

4.8

The board should ensure continual risk monitoring by management.

9

4.9

The board should receive assurance regarding the effectiveness of
the risk management process.

9

4.10

The board should ensure that there are processes in place enabling
complete, timely, relevant, accurate and accessible risk disclosure to
stakeholders.

9

Explanation
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Principle

Description

Status

5

The governance of information technology

5.1

The board should be responsible for information technology
governance.

9

5.2

IT should be aligned with the performance and sustainability
objectives of the company.

9

5.3

The board should delegate to management the responsibility for the
implementation of an IT governance framework.

9

5.4

The board should monitor and evaluate significant IT investments
and expenditure.

9

5.5

IT should form an integral part of the company’s risk management.

9

5.6

The board should ensure that information assets are managed
effectively.

9

5.7

An audit and risk committee should assist the board in carrying out
its IT responsibilities.

9

6

Compliance with laws, rules, codes and standards

6.1

The board should ensure that the company complies with
applicable laws and considers adherence to non-binding rules,
codes and standards.

9

6.2

The board and each individual director should have a working
understanding of the effect of the applicable laws, rules, codes and
standards on the company and its business.

9

6.3

Compliance risk should form an integral part of the company’s risk
management process.

9

6.4

The board should delegate to management the implementation
of an effective compliance framework and process.

9

7

Internal audit

7.1

The board should ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal
audit function.

9

7.2

Internal audit should follow a risk-based approach in its plan.

9

7.3

Internal audit should provide a written assessment of the
effectiveness of the company’s system of internal control and risk
management.

9

7.4

The audit committee should be responsible for overseeing
internal audit.

9

7.5

Internal audit should be strategically positioned to achieve its
objectives.

9

Explanation
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continued

Principle

Description

Status

8

Governing stakeholder relationships

8.1

The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect
a company’s reputation.

9

8.2

The board should delegate to management to proactively deal
with stakeholder relationships.

9

8.3

The board should strive to achieve the appropriate balance
between its various stakeholder groupings, in the best interests
of the company.

9

8.4

Companies should ensure the equitable treatment of shareholders.

9

8.5

Transparent and effective communication with stakeholders is
essential for building and maintaining their trust and confidence.

9

8.6

The board should ensure that disputes are resolved as effectively,
efficiently and expeditiously as possible.

9

9

Integrated reporting and disclosure

9.1

The board should ensure the integrity of the company’s integrated
report.

9

9.2

Sustainability reporting and disclosures should be integrated with the
company’s financial reporting.

9

9.3

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be independently
assured.

9

Explanation
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
CUSTOMERS
RMH is committed to good corporate citizenship practices
and organisational integrity in the direction, control and
stewardship of the group’s affairs. To the extent that it
is possible, the directors of RMH seek to ensure that
this commitment is practised and reported on by the
company’s associate (FirstRand). This commitment provides
stakeholders with comfort that RMH’s affairs are being
managed in an ethical and disciplined manner.

This discussion is a limited overview from a
RMH perspective. FirstRand publishes a detailed
sustainability review, which is available on
www.firstrand.co.za.

FirstRand provides a comprehensive range of financial services to
South African corporates and individuals. In this regard, the
integrity of its various brands, their image and reputation are
paramount to ensure the sustainability of their businesses. FirstRand
regularly engages with its customers to measure satisfaction levels
and gain insight into their needs. FirstRand’s emphasis on
innovation encourages new solutions for extending financial
services to new markets. FNB uses the international accredited
and recognised South African Customer Satisfaction Index. The
index classifies FNB as a leader in customer satisfaction in that the
business scores significantly better than the industry average, with
a score of 76.8 compared to the industry’s 73.7.

RMH subscribes to a philosophy of providing meaningful,
timely and accurate communication to its key stakeholders,
based on transparency, accountability and integrity.
The direct stakeholders of RMH are current and potential
shareholders, analysts, employees, suppliers, regulators;
government and civil society, communities and, indirectly,
customers.

SHAREHOLDERS
COMMUNICATION
RMH’s communication practices are designed to allow investors
to make decisions about the acquisition and ownership of shares.
The company communicates formally with shareholders twice
a year when it announces interim and year-end results. These
comprehensive reports are sent to all shareholders.

The reports are accessible on the company’s website
(www. rmbh.co.za)
The chairman and chief executive meet with investors and
investment analysts from time to time. Ad hoc engagements with
shareholders are done via the website or via SENS announcements
through the JSE.

OWNERSHIP
Significant shareholdings and an analysis of the RMH
share price and trading data appear on page 108.

STAFF
RMH, together with FirstRand, believes that employees have an
important role to play in sustaining the positive performance of the
group. The human resource strategy is to attract, develop and
retain the best industry talent. We empower our people, hold them
accountable, and reward them appropriately.
FirstRand, together with RMH, follows a practice of aligning
employee remuneration with shareholders’ return. FirstRand’s
divisions operate across a variety of financial services activities,
each with a distinct employment and human resources pressure.
FirstRand’s remuneration policy takes account of the diverse
needs of the group and the implementation of appropriate
industry remuneration practices in accordance with the FirstRand’s
remuneration policy. FirstRand’s remuneration consists of the following:
X
X
X

basic salary plus benefits; and, where appropriate,
annual performance related rewards; as well as
long-term incentive schemes.

Annual performance related rewards are based on both individual
and business unit performance.
Measures include:
X
X
X
X
X

ROE;
earnings growth and NIACC;
performance within overall group risk appetite;
quality of earnings; and
recognition for the establishment of a business, or turning on
established business around as opposed to benefitting from
existing franchise value.
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For long-term incentive schemes, the vetting is closely limited to
corporate performance targets, measured on a cumulative basis
over a three-year period. If conditions are not satisfied, allocations
are forfeited.
All employees are required to belong to a medical aid.

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT
FirstRand is committed to uplifting the societies in which it operates
through following sound employment practices and meeting the
real needs of the communities.
FirstRand contribute 1% of its normalised earnings to the FirstRand

TRANSFORMATION

Foundation. The current fund value is R175 million, which has been

The FirstRand transformation committee conducted the following
during the current year:

Africa. At the FirstRand Foundation’s June 2014 strategy session,

X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X

Oversaw alignment of FirstRand’s succession plan with the
Department of Labour (DoL) employment equity plan.
Oversaw the one-year progress as measured against the
three-year DoL employment equity plan.
Reviewed progress of implementation of employment equity
performance at foreign operations.
Oversaw the alignment of reporting against both Financial
Sector Charter and dti codes.
Reviewed outcomes to improve gender equality in the
workplace.
Preferential procurement: FirstRand’s focus on procurement
with black-owned and black-women-owned entities was
discussed.
Lessons learnt from the FirstRand BEE transaction.
Analysis of franchise terminations and loss of ACI talent.
Oversaw integration of supplier development as a new
element on the BEE scorecard.

FirstRand retained its level 2 BEE status. RMH does not have a
formal BEE rating. An informal rating is prepared and monitored by
the social, ethics and transformation committee.

PROCUREMENT
FirstRand has an established set of procurement guidelines to
assist in meeting their commitment to place business with BEE
suppliers. The centralised procurement function’s principal
objective is to improve the B-BBEE procurement spend and
leverage efficiencies through economies of scale with improved
coordination of procurement functions. FirstRand managed to
improve its BEE procurement spend to 98% (2014: 94%) of the total
FirstRand measured procurement.

REGUL ATORS
The group is subject to the independent oversight of South African
regulatory authorities. The group representatives interact with a wide
spectrum of regulatory bodies, including the South African Reserve
Bank, the Financial Services Board and the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange. The relationship sought is one of compliance and
constructive participation in committees, with a view to ensuring that
South African industry practice remains amongst the best in the world.

pledged for various development interventions across South
trustees approved a fundamental shift in the Foundation’s strategy.
For the past year it has been working to transition from the
programmatic approach followed since 2006 to systemic social
investment (SSI). SSI is a multi-faceted strategy, which at the most
basic level aims to confront the root causes of social problems
(not only the symptoms) through strategic interventions in order to
bring about lasting, system-wide change. The Foundation has
been in existence for 17 years and has distributed more than R1 billion
towards social change during this time. Peter Cooper serves as a
trustee on the Foundation. RMH, through its 34.1% investment,
therefore indirectly contributed R72 million (2014: R63 million) of
FirstRand’s normalised earnings to the FirstRand Foundation.
RMH therefore currently does not have its own CSI programme
and believes that partnering with FirstRand better serves the
wider community.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
FirstRand’s carbon consumption is calculated per franchise and
reported internally to the franchise social and ethics committees,
as well as externally in the Carbon Disclosure Project.
Electricity use contributes 88% of FirstRand’s carbon footprint.
During the year, FirstRand’s carbon footprint increased by 9%. This
is principally attributed to:
X
X

X
X

the addition of the new Portside, FNB Acacia House and the
Pritchard Street buildings to the carbon footprint;
an increase in diesel purchases due to electricity shortages.
Diesel purchases for use in generators increased by 309%
compared to the prior year;
an increase in business road travel; and
the addition of a new scope 3 category to account for
electricity transmission and distribution losses.

Green buildings are receiving priority. All new buildings are
constructed in an energy efficient manner to reduce operational
energy costs. FirstRand seeks to achieve at least a 4 green star
rating for all new buildings from the Green Building Council of
South Africa. Recent buildings include FNB Portside Building in
Cape Town – 5 star; FNB Acacia House in Umhlanga – 4 star; and
FNB Freedom Plaza, Windhoek, Namibia – 4 star. These efforts help
to minimise the ecological impact of FirstRand as it expands.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
The directors of RMB Holdings Limited (RMH) are required

to indicate any breakdown in the functioning of internal

by the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, to prepare group and

controls, resulting in a material loss to the group, during

separate annual financial statements. In discharging this

the year and up to the date of this report. Based on the

responsibility, the directors rely on management to prepare

effective internal controls implemented by management,

the group and separate annual financial statements

the directors are satisfied that the group and separate

in accordance with International Financial Reporting

annual financial statements fairly present the state of

Standards (IFRS) and for keeping adequate accounting

affairs of the group and company at the end of the

records in accordance with the group’s system of internal

financial year and the net income and cash flows for the

control. As such, the annual financial statements include

year. Herman Bosman LLM, CFA supervised the preparation

amounts based on judgments and estimates made by

of the financial statements for the year.

management.
In preparing the annual financial statements, suitable
accounting policies have been applied and reasonable
estimates have been made by management. The directors
approve changes to accounting policies. However, there
were no changes to accounting policies during the
financial year. The financial statements incorporate full
and appropriate disclosure in line with the group’s philosophy
on corporate governance.

The directors have reviewed the group and company’s
budget and flow of funds forecast and considered the
group and company’s ability to continue as a going
concern in the light of current and anticipated economic
conditions. The directors have reviewed the assumptions
underlying these budgets and forecasts, based on
currently available information. On the basis of this review
and in the light of the current financial position and
profitable trading history, the directors are satisfied that

The directors are responsible for the group’s system of

the group has adequate resources to continue in business

internal control. To enable the directors to meet these

for the foreseeable future. The going concern basis

responsibilities, the directors set the standards for internal

therefore continues to apply and has been adopted in

control to reduce the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective

the preparation of the annual financial statements.

manner. The standards include the appropriate delegation
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework,

It is the responsibility of the group’s independent external

effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation

auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., to give an opinion

of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. The focus of

on the fair presentation of the annual financial statements.

risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing,

Their unqualified report appears on page 60.

managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across
the group.

The group and separate annual financial statements,
which appear on pages 61 to 105, were approved by the

Based on the information and explanations given by

board of directors on 11 September 2015 and are signed

management and the internal auditor, nothing has come

on its behalf by:

to the attention of the directors to indicate that the internal
controls are inadequate and that the financial records
may not be relied on in preparing the group and separate
annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS and
maintaining accountability for the group’s assets and
liabilities. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors

GT Ferreira

Herman Bosman

Chairman

Chief executive

11 September 2015
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DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns
as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up
to date.

Ellen Marais
Company secretary
11 September 2015

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
NATURE OF BUSINESS
RMH’s primary interest is its 34.1% investment in FirstRand,
one of South Africa’s pre-eminent banking groups.
Further details regarding the investment are provided in
note 6 to the annual financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the company’s authorised share capital as at
30 June 2015 are shown in note 7 to the annual financial
statements.
ORDINARY SHARES
There was no change in the authorised ordinary share
capital during the year and no ordinary shares were
issued during the year.
At the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the
company, held on 21 November 2014, a special resolution
was passed authorising the board of the company or the
board of a subsidiary of the company to approve the
purchase of shares in RMH during the period up to and
including the date of the following annual general
meeting. The repurchase is limited in any one financial
year to a cumulative maximum of 15% of the company’s
issued share capital. This resolution is subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings
Requirements. No shares were purchased in the current
or previous year.

PREFERENCE SHARES
During the current year, the company amended its
memorandum of incorporation and created a separate
class no par value, cumulative, redeemable preference
shares.

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS
Based on information disclosed by STRATE and investigations
conducted on behalf of the company, the following
shareholders have an interest of 5% or more in the issued
ordinary share capital of the company at 30 June:

%

2015

2014

28

28

15
10
5

15
12
5

58
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Financial Securities Limited
(Remgro)
Royal Bafokeng Holdings
Proprietary Limited
Public Investment Corporation
LL Dippenaar

GROUP RESULTS
A general review of the financial results of the group and
the operations of its major investments is provided in the
chief executive’s review on pages 20 to 22 and the
review of operations on pages 23 to 29 of this annual
integrated report.
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DIVIDENDS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN RMH

The following ordinary dividends were declared by RMH

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

during the year under review:

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into

•

in which directors or officers of the company had an

•

An interim gross dividend for the six-month period ended
31 December 2014 of 122.0 cents (2013: 100.0 cents)

interest and which significantly affected the business of

per ordinary share, declared on 5 March 2015 and paid

the group. The directors had no interest in any third party

on 31 March 2015.

or company responsible for managing any of the business

A final gross dividend for the year ended 30 June

activities of the group, except to the extent that they are

2015 of 154.0 cents (2014: 127.5 cents) per ordinary

shareholders in RMH, as disclosed in this report. Arm’s

share, declared on 11 September 2015, payable on

length banking and assurance transactions entered into

12 October 2015.

by the company’s directors with the group’s associate

The last day to trade in RMH shares on a cum-dividend
basis in respect of the final dividend will be Friday,
2 October 2015, while the first day to trade ex-dividend
will be Monday, 5 October 2015. The record date will be
Friday, 9 October 2015 and the payment date Monday,
12 October 2015.

are disclosed in note 20 to the annual financial statements.
Per Lagerström did provide some consulting services to
RMH, which were compensated for on an arm’s length
basis and disclosed below.

INFORMATION ABOUT DIRECTORS’
SERVICE CONTRACTS

No dematerialisation or rematerialisation of shares may
be done during the period Monday, 5 October 2015 to

All eligible, non-executive directors are elected for a

Friday, 9 October 2015, both days inclusive.

period of three years. All executives and prescribed
officers have a notice period of one month. Directors

DIRECTORATE

and prescribed officers are not entitled to additional
compensation in the event of being removed from office.

The directorate consists of:

INSURANCE

GT Ferreira

Herman Bosman

(chairman)

(chief executive)

RMH has appropriate insurance cover against crime risks

Johan Burger

Peter Cooper

as well as professional indemnity.

Leon Crouse

Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa

Laurie Dippenaar

Jan Dreyer

Pat Goss

Paul Harris

Albertina Kekana

Per Lagerström

Murphy Morobe

Khehla Shubane

Alternate directors:
Jannie Durand
Obakeng Phetwe

COMPANY SECRETARY AND
REGISTERED OFFICES
Ellen Marais is the company secretary. The address of the
company secretary is that of the company’s registered
office. The company’s registered office is at:
3rd Floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner Fredman Drive and
Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196.

Changes:
Murphy Morobe was appointed as independent nonexecutive director on 1 August 2014. Peter Cooper resigned

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

as executive director effective 10 September 2014 and

A full list of the special resolutions passed by the company

was appointed as non-executive director on that date.

during the year is available to shareholders on request.
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EVENTS SUBS EQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
Other than the final dividend declaration, there are no other material facts or circumstances that have occurred between
the accounting date and the date of this report.
The company and group annual financial statements were approved and signed by the chairman and chief executive
on 11 September 2015, having been duly authorised to do so by the board of directors.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND PARTICIPATION IN INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Directors’ emoluments and participation in incentive schemes are disclosed below. Increases are determined in accordance
with the remuneration policy.
Directors’ and prescribed officer emoluments
Other
benefits1

Performance
related

3 883
1 967
(2 912)

675
300
(507)

–

2 938

328
133
114
140
183
140
218
8
154
140
140
157

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
300

125
140
2 120

Total
2015

Total
2014

–
625
–

4 558
2 892
(3 419)

9 065
34
(5 439)

468

625

4 031

3 660

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

328
133
114
140
183
140
218
8
154
140
140
457

287
–
–
132
172
132
205
132
165
132
132
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

125
140

–
132

300

2 938

468

625

6 337

5 281

Services
as director

For other
services

Executive and prescribed officer
Peter Cooper2
Herman Bosman – charged from RMI3
Recovered from RMI

–
–
–

–
–
–

Net emoluments from RMH

–

R’000

Non-executive
GT Ferreira
Johan Burger
Peter Cooper2
Leon Crouse4
Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa
Laurie Dippenaar
Jan Dreyer
Jannie Durand (alternate)4
Pat Goss
Paul Harris
Albertina Kekana5
Per Lagerström
Murphy Morobe
(appointed 1 August 2014)
Khehla Shubane
TOTAL

Cash
packages

Notes:
1. “Other benefits” comprise provident fund, pension fund and medical aid contributions. The pension and provident fund contribution amounted to
R1 271 thousand (2014: R1 423 thousand).
2. P Cooper retired as executive director on 10 September 2014 and was appointed as non-executive director on the date.
3. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Herman Bosman in the prior year were paid to RMI.
4. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Leon Crouse and Jannie Durand were paid to the Remgro group.
5. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Albertina Kekana were paid to Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary Limited.
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Directors’ emoluments paid by associate
Total
2015

Total
2014

Non-executive
Johan Burger1
Peter Cooper2
Leon Crouse2
Laurie Dippenaar
Jannie Durand (alternate)2
Pat Goss
Paul Harris

30 255
486
1 069
4 700
714
1 079
534

26 671
323
985
3 991
631
941
505

TOTAL

38 837

34 047

R’000

Notes:
1. The amount includes Johan Burger’s total earnings for the year from FirstRand as an executive director.
2. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Leon Crouse and Jannie Durand were paid to the Remgro group.

Directors’ participation in RMH share schemes

Share
RMH share appreciation
rights
Peter Cooper

Herman Bosman

RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH

Strike
price
(cents)

2
3
3
3
4
4
4
4
4
4

Opening
balance
as at
1 July
2014
Exercise
000’s
date

Issued
000’s

Forfeited
000’s

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

649
582
582
582
341
341
341
781
781
781

14/09/2014
14/09/2015
14/09/2016
14/09/2017
14/09/2016
14/09/2017
14/09/2018
02/04/2017
02/04/2018
02/04/2019

217
275
275
275
73
73
72
126
126
126

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

††

14/09/2014

22

–

Exercised
000’s

Closing
balance
as at
30 June
2015
000’s

Benefit
derived
R’000

(217)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
275
275
275
73
73
72
126
126
126

6 535
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(22)

–

1 258

Deferred bonus plan
Peter Cooper
††

RMH

No strike price is associated with the award made under the deferred bonus plan.

–
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN ORDINARY SHARES OF RMH
According to the register of directors’ interests maintained by the company in accordance with section 30(4)(d) of the
Companies Act, the directors have disclosed the following interests in the ordinary shares of RMH at 30 June:
Since the end of the financial year to the date of this report, the interests of directors remained unchanged.
Directors’ interest in ordinary shares
Direct
beneficial

Indirect
beneficial

Total
2015

%

Total
2014

–

–

–

–

–

Non-executive
GT Ferreira
Johan Burger
Peter Cooper1
Leon Crouse
Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa
Laurie Dippenaar
Jan Dreyer
Pat Goss
Paul Harris
Albertina Kekana
Per Lagerström
Khehla Shubane
Jannie Durand (alternate)
Obakeng Phetwe (alternate)

149
–
750
–
–
–
1
–
–
–
–
3
–
–

39 889
1 234
3 061
–
–
75 329
–
11 985
9 000
–
–
3
–
–

40 038
1 234
3 811
–
–
75 329
1
11 985
9 000
–
–
6
–
–

2.84
0.09
0.27
–
–
5.34
–
0.85
0.64
–
–
–
–
–

40 038
1 234
3 789
–
–
75 329
1
11 985
11 990
–
–
6
–
–

TOTAL

903

140 501

141 404

10.03

144 372

000
Executive
Herman Bosman

1. Peter Cooper retired as executive director on 10 September 2014 and was appointed as non-executive director on the date.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
We have audited the consolidated and separate annual
financial statements of RMB Holdings Limited, set out
on pages 61 to 105, which comprise the statements of
financial position as at 30 June 2015, income statements,
statements of comprehensive income, statements of
changes in equity, statements of cash flows, accounting
policies and notes to the annual financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2015.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILIT Y FOR THE
ANNUAL F INANCIAL STATEMENTS
The company’s directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
and separate annual financial statements in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial
statements that are free from material misstatements,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILIT Y
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated and separate annual financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated and separate financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
annual financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the annual financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate annual
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of RMB Holdings Limited at 30 June
2015, and its financial performance and cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2015, in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE
COMPANIES ACT
As part of our audit of the financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2015, we have read the directors’
report, the audit and risk committee’s report and the
company secretary’s certificate for the purpose of
identifying whether there are material inconsistencies
between these reports and the audited consolidated
and separate annual financial statements. These reports
are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based
on reading these reports, we have not identified material
inconsistencies between these reports and the audited
consolidated and separate annual financial statements.
However, we have not audited these reports and
accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: Francois Prinsloo
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
11 September 2015
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June

Group

R million
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Investment securities
Derivative financial instruments
Property and equipment
Investment in associate

Notes

2015

2014

2015

2014

1
2
3
4
5
6

16
1
229
36
–
36 241

14
6
178
20
–
33 348

16
1
229
36
–
11 732

14
6
178
20
–
11 732

36 523

33 566

12 014

11 950

8 815
26 359

8 819
23 401

8 825
1 840

8 825
1 779

35 174

32 220

10 665

10 604

1 221
46
60
1
18
3

1 272
17
46
–
9
2

1 221
46
60
1
18
3

1 272
17
46
–
9
2

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the company's equity holders
Share capital and premium
Reserves

7
8

TOTAL EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Taxation payable
Long-term liabilities
Provisions
TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Company

9
4
10
11
12

1 349

1 346

1 349

1 346

36 523

33 566

12 014

11 950
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INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 June

Group

Company

Notes

2015

2014

2015

2014

6
13
14

7 388
–
434
83

6 426
15
4
18

–
–
3 637
83

–
15
3 024
18

Net income
Administration expenses

15

7 905
(41)

6 463
(40)

3 720
(41)

3 057
(40)

Income from operations
Finance costs

16

7 864
(86)

6 423
(85)

3 679
(86)

3 017
(85)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

17

7 778
(9)

6 338
(1)

3 593
(9)

2 932
(1)

R million
Share of after–tax profit of associate
Fee income
Investment income
Net fair value gain on financial assets and liabilities

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

7 769

6 337

3 584

2 931

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company

7 769

6 337

3 584

2 931

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

7 769

6 337

3 584

2 931

18
18

550.5
550.5

449.0
444.2

18
18

508.5
508.5

454.7
449.9

Earnings per share (cents)
– Basic
– Diluted
Headline earnings per share (cents)
– Basic
– Diluted

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June

Group

R million
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income after tax
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss
Share of other comprehensive loss of associate after tax and
non-controlling interest
Items that may not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss
Share of other comprehensive loss of associate after tax and
non-controlling interest
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

7 769

6 337

3 584

2 931

(144)

254

–

–

(48)

(29)

–

–

(192)
7 577

225

–

–

6 562

3 584

2 931

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the company

7 577

6 562

3 584

2 931

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

7 577

6 562

3 584

2 931
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June

Group
Share
capital
and
premium

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Balance as at 1 July 2013
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Income of associate retained
Transfer relating to:
Change in effective shareholding
Reserve movements relating to associate
Movement in treasury shares

8 822
–
–
–

17 171
225
–
2 904

334
–
–
–

2 744
6 337
(2 887)
(2 904)

29 071
6 562
(2 887)
–

–
–
–

–
(502)
–

(21)
(502)
(3)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

8 819

20 279

334

Balance as at 1 July 2014
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Income of associate retained
Share option expense – IFRS 2
Reserve movements relating to associate
Movement in treasury shares

8 819
–
–
–
–
–
(4)

20 279
(192)
–
4 166
–
(1 078)
–

334
–
–
–
(1)
–
–

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

8 815

23 175

333

R million

–
–
(3)

(21)
–
–

Retained
earnings

2 788
2
7
(3
(4

788
769
522)
166)
–
(19)
1

Total
equity

32 220
32 220
7 577
(3 522)
–
(1)
(1 097)
(3)

2 851

35 174

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

Company
Share
capital
and
premium

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Balance as at 1 July 2013
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid

14
–
–

8 811
–
–

334
–
–

1 401
2 931
(2 887)

10 560
2 931
(2 887)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

14

8 811

334

1 445

10 604

Balance as at 1 July 2014
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Share option expense – IFRS 2

14
–
–
–

8 811
–
–
–

334
–
–
(1)

1 445
3 584
(3 522)
–

10 604
3 584
(3 522)
(1)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

14

8 811

333

1 507

10 665

R million
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June

Group
Notes

R million
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

A

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

3 669
(8)

3 008
(1)

3 669
(8)

3 008
(1)

3 661

3 007

3 661

3 007

Cash flow from financing activities
Amount of borrowings withdrawn
Cost of funding
Dividends paid on preference share in issue
Dividends paid to equity holders

(51)
(3)
(83)
(3 522)

(33)
(1)
(84)
(2 887)

(51)
(3)
(83)
(3 522)

(33)
(1)
(84)
(2 887)

NET CASH OUTFLOW IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(3 659)

(3 005)

(3 659)

(3 005)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

2
14

2
12

2
14

2
12

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

16

14

16

14

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June

Group

R million
A.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from
operations
Profit before tax
Adjusted for:
Provision released
Equity accounted earnings
Depreciation
Share option expense – IFRS 2
Funding costs
Dividends accrued on preference shares in issue
Fair value adjustment
Unrealised profit on change in effective shareholding
Changes in working capital
– Current receivables and prepayments
– Current payables and provisions
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

7 778

6 338

3 593

2 932

(5)
(3 758)
–
28
3
83
(38)
(427)

(11)
(3 406)
1
16
1
84
(18)
–

4
1
3 669

4
(1)
3 008

(5)
–
–
28
3
83
(38)
–

(11)
–
1
16
1
84
(18)
–

4
1

4
(1)

3 669

3 008
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The group adopts the following accounting policies in preparing its group financial statements. In the current year the
group has applied a number of new and revised IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that
are mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. Except for the changes to
accounting policies required by these new and revised IFRS as described in accounting policy A, the policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented.

A.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
RMH is an investment holding company. Its primary investment currently is it 34.1% stake in FirstRand Limited. FirstRand
is a listed entity on the JSE. Readers are referred to the FirstRand website www.firstrand.co.za for their detailed
accounting policies.
RMH’s company and group annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, the requirements of
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, SAICA Financial Reporting Guide as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee,
Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standard Council and the Listings Requirements
of the JSE Limited. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented.
RMH, together with its related undertakings in South Africa, is collectively referred to as the group.
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, using the historical cost basis, except for the
following material financial assets and liabilities, where it adopts the fair value basis of accounting:
•
•
•

derivative financial instruments;
cash-settled share-based payments; and
investment securities – elected fair value through profit and loss.

RMH has made the following accounting elections in terms of IFRS, with reference to the detailed accounting policy:
•

regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised using trade date accounting
– accounting policy note F.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these group annual financial statements are set out
below and are consistent in all material aspects with those adopted in the previous year, except for the adoption
of certain standards or interpretations effective for the first time in the current year, as shown below:
•

•

The amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in other Entities and
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements provide an exemption to the consolidation requirement for entities that
meet the definition of an investment entity in terms of IFRS 10. If the exemption is applied, the amendments allow
investment entities to account for investments in subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. These amendments
have no impact on the group, since neither the group itself nor any of the entities in the group meets the
definition of an investment entity in terms of IFRS 10.
IAS 19 Employee Benefits was amended to clarify the requirements relating to how contributions from employees
or third parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service. The amendment permits
contributions that are independent of the number of years of service to be recognised as a reduction in the
service cost in the period in which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to periods of
service. Other contributions by employees or third parties that are not linked to service should be attributed to
periods of service using the plan’s contribution formula or on a straight-line basis. The amendments did not have
an impact on the group.
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•

•

•

•

•

The amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, clarify the existing requirements relating to the
offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities. It specifically clarifies that the right of set-off must not be
contingent on a future event and must also be legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of
business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The group’s interpretation of the offsetting
requirements has always been in line with this approach and the clarification and the adoption of the amended
standard therefore did not have an impact on the group financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement on the disclosures required under IAS 36. The amendments reduce the circumstances in which the
recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating units (CGU) is required to be disclosed. The amendments
clarify the disclosures required and introduce an explicit requirement to disclose the discount rate used in
determining impairment or impairment reversals when the recoverable amount is determined using a present
value technique. The amendments do not impact the amounts reported in the group’s annual financial statements,
but additional disclosures will be provided when applicable in terms of the new disclosure requirements.
Under IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the novation of derivatives to central
counterparties would result in the discontinuance of hedge accounting. The amendments to this standard
provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a derivative designated as a hedging
instrument meets certain criteria. These amendments have no impact on the group as the group has not novated
any derivatives used as hedging instruments during the current or prior periods.
IFRIC 21 Levies is a new interpretation that provides guidance on when to recognise a liability for a levy imposed
by a government. The interpretation clarifies that an entity should recognise a liability for a levy when the activity
that triggers the payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon
reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability is recognised until the specified
minimum threshold is recognised. This interpretation has no impact on the group’s annual financial statements
as it has applied the requirements of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, which are
consistent with the requirements of IFRIC 21, in prior years.
As part of its Annual Improvements Project, the IASB made amendments to a number of accounting standards.
The annual improvements for the 2010 – 2012 and 2011 – 2013 cycles, issued in December 2013, were adopted
in the current financial year. These amendments did not have a significant impact on the group’s results, nor
have they resulted in the restatement of prior year numbers.

The preparation of the annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS necessitates the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the group’s
accounting policies. Although estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgments of current
facts as at the reporting date, the actual outcome may differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the group financial
statements are outlined in note 25.

B.

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is both the functional and presentation
currency of the company and the presentation currency of the group. All amounts are stated in millions of Rand
(R million), unless otherwise indicated.
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C.

EQUIT Y ACCOUNTING
The group annual financial statements include the assets and liabilities of the holding company, the results of
operations of the holding company and the share of net assets and equity accounted earnings of its associate.
ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.
EQUITY METHOD
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
When the group’s share of losses in an equity accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been
changed, where necessary, to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.
PRINCIPLES OF EQUITY ACCOUNTING
When the group ceases to equity account for an investment because of a loss of significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had already disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.
CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where
appropriate.
IMPAIRMENT
The group determines, at each reporting date, whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises this amount to share of profit and
loss of associate in the income statement.
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The group does not account for any further losses of the associate when the carrying amount of the investment in
an associate reaches zero, unless it has incurred obligations or guaranteed obligations in favour of the entity. The
group resumes equity accounting only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised. The
group increases the carrying amount of investments with its share of the associate’s income when equity accounting
is resumed.
EQUITY ACCOUNTING DISCONTINUED
Equity accounting is discontinued from the date that the group ceases to have significant influence over the
associate or when the associate is classified as held for sale. The group measures, at fair value, any investment it has
retained in the entity when significant influence is lost and recognises the resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. The
gain or loss is measured as the difference between the fair value of this retained investment and the carrying
amount of the original investment at the date significant influence is lost.
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In RMH’s separate annual financial statements, the investments in the associate company is carried at cost. Transaction
costs are recognised directly in the income statement.

D.

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE RECOGNITION
INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE
The group recognises interest income and expense in profit or loss for all instruments measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability by allocating the interest income or interest expense over the average
expected life of the financial instruments or portfolio of instruments. Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as
redeemable preference shares, are included in financial liabilities. Dividends received or paid on these instruments
are included and accrued in interest income and expense, using the effective interest method.
FAIR VALUE GAINS AND LOSSES:
The group includes profits or losses, fair value adjustments, dividends and interest on trading financial instruments, as
well as trading-related financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss as fair value income in
profit or loss.
DIVIDENDS
The group recognises dividends when the group’s right to receive payment is established. This is on the last day to
trade for listed shares and on the date of declaration for unlisted shares.

E.

INCOME TAXES
Income taxes include South African and foreign jurisdiction corporate tax payable, as well as capital gains tax.
The current income tax expense is calculated by adjusting the net profit for the year for items which are non-taxable
or disallowed. It is calculated using taxation rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date, in each particular jurisdiction within which the group operates.

69
2015 RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT

F.

RECOGNITION OF ASSETS
ASSETS
The group recognises assets when it obtains control of a resource as a result of past events, and from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.
CONTINGENT ASSETS
The group discloses a contingent asset where, as a result of past events, it is highly probable that economic benefits
will flow to the group, but will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events which are not wholly within the group’s control.

G.

RECOGNITION OF LIABILITIES, PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS
The group recognises liabilities, including provisions, when it has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The group discloses a contingent liability where:
•
•
•

H.

it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the group; or
it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation; or
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
GENERAL
Financial instruments disclosed in the annual financial statements include cash and cash equivalents, investment
securities, loans and receivables, trade and other payables and borrowings. Financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value, including transaction costs, when the group becomes party to the contractual terms of the
instruments. The transaction costs relating to the acquisition of financial instruments held at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as follows:
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AND BORROWINGS
Loans and receivables and borrowings are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. These instruments are carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
These instruments, consisting of financial instruments held for trading and those designated at fair value through
profit or loss at inception, are carried at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in
the fair value of these financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Financial assets and liabilities are designated on initial recognition as at fair value through profit and loss to the
extent that it produces more relevant information because it either:
•
•

•

results in the reduction of measurement inconsistency (or accounting mismatch) that would arise as a result of
measuring assets and liabilities and the gains and losses on them on different bases; or
is a group of financial assets and/or financial liabilities that is managed and its performance evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and this is the basis on
which information about the assets and/or liabilities is provided internally to the entity’s key management
personnel or
is a financial asset or liability containing significant embedded derivatives that clearly require bifurcation.

DERECOGNITION
The group derecognises an asset when the contractual rights to the asset expires, where there is a transfer of
contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset and substantially all of the risk and rewards related
to the ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or the group retains the contractual rights of the assets but
assumes a corresponding liability to transfer these contractual rights to another party and consequently transfers
substantially all the risks and benefits associated with the asset.
Where the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the group continues
to recognise the asset. If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the group has retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the group continues to recognise the transferred asset in
its entirety and recognises a financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the group
recognises any income on the transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability.
Where the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset,
the group shall determine whether it has retained control of the financial asset. Where the group has not retained
control, it shall derecognise the financial asset and recognise separately as assets or liabilities any rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Where the group has retained control of the financial asset, it shall
continue to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset.
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities (or portions thereof) are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged
or cancelled or has expired. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability,
including related unamortised costs and the amount paid for it, is included in profit or loss.
BORROWINGS
The group initially recognises borrowings, including debentures, at the fair value of the consideration received.
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Discounts or premiums on debentures issued are amortised
on a basis that reflects the effective yield on the debentures over their life span. Interest paid is recognised in profit
or loss on an effective interest rate basis. Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as redeemable preference
shares, are included in financial liabilities.
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OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The group offset financial assets and financial liabilities, and report the net balance in the statement of financial
position, when a current legally enforceable right of set-off exists for recognised financial assets and financial
liabilities and there is an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis.
All related financial effects are also offset.
The right of set-off is considered to be currently enforceable if the following conditions are met:
•
•

I.

the right is not contingent on a future event; and
it is legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances:
– the normal course of business;
– the event of default; and
– in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all of the counterparties.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The group initially recognises derivative financial instruments in the statement of financial position, at fair value.
Derivatives are subsequently remeasured at their fair value, with all movements in fair value recognised in profit
or loss.

J.

PROPERT Y AND EQUIPMENT
The group carries furniture and equipment at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Furniture and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to reduce the book value of
these assets to estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
The periods of depreciation used are as follows:
•
•

Computer equipment
Furniture, fittings and office equipment

3 years
6 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Gains or losses on disposals are determined by reference to the
carrying amount of the asset and the net proceeds received, and are recorded in profit or loss on disposal.
LEASES
Leases of assets where the lessor substantially retains all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are accounted for in income on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.
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K.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows, which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (CGU’s). Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, that suffered an impairment, are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

L.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The group operates a defined contribution scheme only. For defined contribution plans, it pays contributions to a
privately administered pension insurance plan on a contractual and voluntary basis. The group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. It has no obligation if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The fund is
registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 24 of 1956, and membership of the pension fund is compulsory for all
group employees.
LEAVE PAY
The group recognises, in full, employees’ rights to annual leave entitlement in respect of past service.
BONUSES
The group recognises a provision and an expense for management and staff bonuses when it is contractually
obliged or where past practice has created a constructive obligation for the group. The expense is included in
staff costs.
TERMINATION BENEFITS
The group recognises termination benefits as a liability in the statement of financial position and as an expense in
profit or loss when it has a present obligation relating to termination. The group has a present obligation at the earlier
of when the group can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the group recognises any
related restructuring costs.

M. SHARE CAPITAL
SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatory redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities.
SHARE ISSUE COSTS
Instruments issued by the group are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.
Incremental costs, directly related to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction from equity, net
of any related tax benefit.
DIVIDENDS PAID
Dividends paid on ordinary shares are recognised against equity in the period in which they are declared. Dividends
declared after the reporting date are not recognised but disclosed as an event subsequent to reporting date.
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TREASURY SHARES
Where the company or other entities within the group, purchase the company’s equity share capital, the consideration
paid is deducted from total shareholders’ equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled. Where such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders’ equity. These shares are treated
as a deduction from the issued number of shares and taken into account in the calculation of the weighted
average number of shares.

N.

SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business activities from which the group may
earn revenues and incurs expenses. An operating segment is also a component of the group whose operating
results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in allocating resources, assessing its performance
and for which discrete financial information is available.
The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the chief executive of the group. The group’s identification
and measurement of operating segments is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief executive.
The operating segments have been identified and classified in a manner that reflects the risks and rewards related
to the segments’ specific products and services offered in their specific markets.
Segments with a majority of revenue earned from charges to external customers and whose revenue, results or
assets are 10% or more of all the segments, are reported separately.

O.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
The group operates a cash-settled share-based compensation plan.
CASH-SETTLED
The group measures the services received and liability incurred in respect of cash-settled share-based payment
plans at the current fair value of the liability. The group remeasures the fair value of the liability at each reporting
date, until settled. The liability is recognised over the vesting period and any changes in the fair value of the liability
are recognised in profit or loss.

P.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise:
•
•
•

coins and bank notes;
money at call and short notice; and
balances with central banks.

All balances included in cash and cash equivalents have a maturity date of less than three months from the date
of acquisition.
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Q.

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The group will comply with the new standard and interpretations from the effective date:
Effective date
IAS 16 (amended)

Property, Plant and Equipment – Depreciation method
IAS 16 was amended to clarify that a depreciation method which is based
on revenue generated by an activity, is not appropriate. This is because
such a method reflects the pattern of the generation of economic benefits
that arise from the operation of the business of which an asset is part, rather
than the pattern of consumption of an asset’s expected future economic
benefits.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2016

The amendment is not expected to have an impact on the group as the
group does not apply a revenue-based depreciation approach.
IAS 16 and IAS 41
(amended)

Bearer plants – Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment
The amendment changes the financial reporting for bearer plants and
indicates that bearer plants should be accounted for in the same way as
property, plant and equipment because their operations are similar to that
of manufacturing. Consequently, the amendment includes bearer plants
within the scope of IAS 16, instead of IAS 41. The produce growing on bearer
plants will remain within the scope of IAS 41.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2016

The amendment falls outside the scope of the group’s operations and will
have no impact on the group.
IAS 27 (amended)

Separate Financial Statements
The amendment permits investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures to be accounted for using the equity method in the separate
annual financial statements of the investor.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2016

This will not have an impact on the group annual financial statements as
the amendment applies to separate annual financial statements.
IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Sale or contribution of assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture
The amendment clarifies the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets
from an investor to its associate or joint venture. The amendment requires:
•

•

full recognition in the investor’s annual financial statements of the gains
and losses arising on the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a
business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations); and
the partial recognition of gains and losses, where the assets do not
constitute a business, i.e. a gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ share in that associate or joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, i.e.
whether the sale or contribution of assets occurs by an investor transferring
shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control of the
subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.
The amendments are applicable prospectively and the group will assess the
impact of the amendment on each transaction as and when they occur.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2016
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Effective date
IAS 38 (amended)

Intangible Assets
IAS 38 is amended to introduce a rebuttable presumption that a revenuebased amortisation method for intangible assets is inappropriate for the
same reasons as in IAS 16. There are limited circumstances when the
presumption can be overcome.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2016

The amendment is not expected to have an impact on the group as it does
not apply a revenue-based amortisation approach.
IFRS 9

Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 was issued in its entirety for the first time on 24 July 2014. The final
version of the standard incorporates amendments to the classification and
measurement guidance as well as accounting requirements for impairment
of financial assets measured at amortised cost. These elements of the final
standard are discussed in detail below:
•

•

•

•

Annual periods
beginning
on or after
1 January 2018

The classification and the measurement of financial instruments under
IFRS 9 are based on both the business model and the rationale for
holding the instruments as well as the contractual characteristics of the
instruments.
Impairments in terms of IFRS 9 will be determined based on an
expected loss model that considers the significant changes to the
assets’ credit risk and the expected loss that will arise in the event of
default.
IFRS 9 allows financial liabilities not held for trading to be measured at
either amortised cost or fair value. If fair value is elected, then changes
in the fair value as a result of changes in own credit risk should be
recognised in other comprehensive income.
The hedge accounting requirements under IFRS 9 are closely aligned
with how entities undertake risk management activities when hedging
financial and non-financial risk exposures. Hedge effectiveness will now
be proved based on management’s risk management objectives rather
than the 80%-125% band that was previously stipulated. IFRS 9 also
allows for rebalancing of the hedge and the deferral of costs of hedging.

The group will now initiate a process to determine the impact of the
standard on the group’s statement of financial position and performance.
Until the process has been completed, the group is unable to quantify the
expected impact.
IFRS 11
(amended)

Joint Arrangements
The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 11 to provide guidance on the
accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations that constitute a
business.
The amendment indicates that the acquirer of an interest in a joint
operation, in which the activity constitutes a business in terms of IFRS 3, is
required to apply all the principles on business combinations accounting in
IFRS 3.
The amendment is not expected to have an impact on the group as the
group does not have any interests in joint operations.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2016
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Effective date

IFRS 14

Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 14 permits an entity which is a first-time adopter of IFRS to continue to
account, with some limited changes, for regulatory deferral account
balances in accordance with its previous GAAP, both on initial adoption of
IFRS and in subsequent financial statements.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2016

The standard falls outside the scope of the group’s operations and will have
no impact on the group.

IFRS 15

Revenue
IFRS 15 provides a single, principle-based model to be applied to all
contracts with customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 January 2017

The new standard will also provide guidance for transactions that were not
previously comprehensively addressed and improve guidance for multipleelement arrangements. The standard further introduces enhanced
disclosures about revenue.
The group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 15 will have on
its annual financial statements. Until the process has been completed, the
group is unable to determine the significance of the impact.
Annual
improvements

Improvements to IFRS
The IASB issued the Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle. The annual
improvements project includes amendments to four standards, namely
IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34. The annual improvement project’s aim is to
clarify and improve accounting standards.
The amendments have been assessed and are not expected to have a
significant impact on the group.

Annual periods
commencing
on or after
1 July 2016
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Group
2015

2014

2015

2014

16

14

16

14

Accounts receivables

1

6

1

6

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

1

6

1

6

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

229

178

229

178

All investment securities are current.

229

178

229

178

R million

1.

Company

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND

Cash and cash equivalents represent current accounts, call deposits
and short-term fixed funds.

2.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

All loans and receivables are current. The carrying value approximates
its fair value.

3.

4.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Listed
Equity instruments held for trading

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Use of derivatives
RMH uses derivatives to hedge its own risk. All other derivatives are classified as held for trading. The derivatives are
economic hedges but do not meet the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting and are managed in conjunction with the
liability, which is fair valued.
The notional amounts of the derivative instruments do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or
the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not represent the group's exposure to credit or market risk.
Derivative instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities), based on changes in market share prices
and credit rating. The aggregate notional amount of derivative financial instruments, the extent to which the instruments
are favourable or unfavourable and the aggregate fair value can fluctuate over time.
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Group
2015
Over the counter
Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative assets
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

90

36

86

20

HELD FOR TRADING

90

36

86

20

R million

4.

2014
Over the counter

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

continued

Company
2015
Over the counter

2014
Over the counter

Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative assets
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

90

36

86

20

HELD FOR TRADING

90

36

86

20

R million

Group
2015
Over the counter

2014
Over the counter

Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative liabilities
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

156

46

153

17

HELD FOR TRADING

156

46

153

17

R million

Company
2015
Over the counter

2014
Over the counter

Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative liabilities
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

156

46

153

17

HELD FOR TRADING

156

46

153

17

R million

The current portion of the derivative financial instruments is nil.
Refer to note 25 for more detail on the valuation of derivatives.
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Group

R million

5.

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

Total

PROPERT Y AND EQUIPMENT
As at 1 July 2013
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2
(2)

2
(2)

4
(4)

NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

Year ended 30 June 2014
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charge

–
–

1
(1)

1
(1)

CLOSING NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

As at 1 July 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2
(2)

2
(2)

4
(4)

NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

Year ended 30 June 2015
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charge

–
–

–
–

–
–

CLOSING NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

As at 30 June 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2
(2)

2
(2)

4
(4)

–

–

–

NET BOOK AMOUNT
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Company
Leasehold
improvements

R million

5.

PROPERT Y AND EQUIPMENT
As at 1 July 2013
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

Total

continued

2
(2)

2
(2)

4
(4)

NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

Year ended 30 June 2014
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charge

–
–

1
(1)

1
(1)

CLOSING NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

As at 1 July 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2
(2)

2
(2)

4
(4)

NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

Year ended 30 June 2015
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charge

–
–

–
–

–
–

CLOSING NET BOOK AMOUNT

–

–

–

As at 30 June 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2
(2)

2
(2)

4
(4)

–

–

–

NET BOOK AMOUNT
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Group
2015

2014

2015

2014

Shares at cost less amounts written off
Equity accounted reserves

9 545
26 696

9 545
23 803

11 732
–

11 732
–

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

36 241

33 348

11 732

11 732

33
7
(3
(1

30 243
6 426
(3 020)
(277)
(20)
(4)

11 732
–
–
–
–
–

11 732
–
–
–
–
–

36 241

33 348

11 732

11 732

36 241

33 348

11 732

11 732

101 864

77 850

101 864

77 850

R million

6.

Company

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

Analysis of movement in the carrying value of associate
Opening carrying value
Share of after-tax profits of associate
Dividends received
Share of associate's other reserves
Change in effective shareholding
Treasury shares
CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

Carrying values of associate:
FirstRand Limited
Market value at closing price on 30 June:
FirstRand Limited – listed

348
388
630)
288)
427
(4)

The group’s interest in its associate is as follows:
Number of shares

Name of associate
FirstRand Limited

% of voting rights*

2015

2014

2015

2014

1 910 433 050

1 910 433 050

34.1

33.9

* After consolidation of treasury shares.

Detail of associate
Listed associate
FirstRand Limited
Financial year-end

30 June

Year used for equity accounting

30 June

Country of incorporation

Republic of South Africa
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2015

2014

450 215
609 051

410 642
534 893

1 059 266

945 535

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

782 571
178 091

724 490
132 828

Total liabilities
Capital and reserves to equity holders
Non-controlling interests

960 662
95 297
3 307

857 318
85 033
3 184

1 059 266

945 535

R million

6.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

continued

Statement of financial position
Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

TOTAL EQUITY HOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Statement of comprehensive income
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

23 124
(644)

19 786
676

22 480

20 462

137 061

126 615
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7.

SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Group
Number
of shares

Share
capital

Share
premium

As at 1 July 2013
Movement in treasury shares

1 411.7
–

14
–

8 811
–

As at 30 June 2014

1 411.7

14

–

–

1 411.7

14

R million

Movement in treasury shares
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Treasury
shares

Total

(3)
(3)

8 822
(3)

8 811

(6)

8 819

–

(4)

8 811

(10)

(4)
8 815

Company
Number
of shares

Share
capital

Share
premium

Total

As at 1 July 2013
Treasury shares

1 411.7
–

14
–

8 811
–

8 825
–

As at 30 June 2014

1 411.7

14

8 811

8 825

R million

Movement in treasury shares
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

–

–

–

–

1 411.7

14

8 811

8 825

The total authorised number of shares is 2 000 000 000 (2014: 2 000 000 000), with a par value of one cent per share
(2014: one cent). During the current year, no shares were issued (2014: nil). 15 % of the unissued share capital is under the
control of the board of directors until the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The total authorised number of redeemable cumulative preference shares is 100 000 000 (2014: 100 000 000), with a par
value of one cent per share (2014: one cent). During the year, no preference shares were issued. As these preference shares
are redeemable, they are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost (see note 9). During the current year, the
company amended its memorandum of incorporation to allow it to create an additional 100 000 000 no par value
cumulative, redeemable, preference shares. All preference shares are unlisted.
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Group

R million

8.

9.

RESERVES

Retained earnings

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

2 851

2 788

1 507

1 445

Other reserves
Equity accounted reserves
Share-based payment reserve
Capital surpluses on disposal and restructuring of strategic investments

23 175
–
333

20 279
1
333

–
–
333

–
1
333

OTHER RESERVES

23 508

20 613

333

334

RESERVES

26 359

23 401

1 840

1 779

Preference shares:
Fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares
Interest-bearing loans

1 180
41

1 180
92

1 180
41

1 180
92

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

1 221

1 272

1 221

1 272

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

PREFERENCE SHARES:
Fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares
The company has, in issue, 11 800 (2014: 11 800) fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares, with a par value of
one cent, at a premium of R99 999.99 per share. The shares are redeemable at the discretion of the company at any time
and compulsorily redeemable on 6 December 2017. The preference shares pay six-monthly dividends at a fixed rate of
7.09%, after the facility was restructured on 21 August 2014 (2014: 7.08%). The preference shares are unlisted.
Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Interest-bearing loans
Funding raised by company

41

92

41

92

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

41

92

41

92

R million

The company financed its obligation by means of a loan obtained from FirstRand Bank Limited. The loan is unsecured and
bears interest at a rate linked to prime.
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Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Trade payables and accrued expenses
Accrued redeemable preference share dividends
Unclaimed dividends
Short-term portion of long-term liabilities (see note 11)

22
14
15
9

14
14
13
5

22
14
15
9

14
14
13
5

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

60

46

60

46

Share-based payment liability
Short-term portion transferred to trade and other payables
(see note 10)

27

14

27

14

(9)

(5)

(9)

(5)

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

18

9

18

9

2
2
(1)

2
2
(2)

2
2
(1)

2
2
(2)

3

2

3

2

Net profit on maturing of FirstRand BEE transaction
Dividend income from associate company
Dividend income – fair value assets
Interest received

427
–
6
1

–
–
4
–

–
3 630
6
1

–
3 020
4
–

INVESTMENT INCOME

434

4

3 637

3 024

Fair value gain on financial assets and liabilities
Fair value gains – held for trading

45
38

–
18

45
38

–
18

NET FAIR VALUE GAIN

83

18

83

18

R million

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

11. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

12. PROVISIONS

Staff incentive bonus
Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provisions
Utilised during the year
PROVISIONS

13. INVESTMENT INCOME

14. NET FAIR VALUE GAIN ON FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND L IABILITIES
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Group

R million

2015

Company
2014

2015

2014

15. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Expenses by nature:
– Professional fees and regulatory compliance cost
– Operating lease rentals
– Audit fees
– Staff costs
– Defined pension and provident fund contributions
– Share option expense – IFRS 2 and movement in employee
benefits liability
– Other expenses

(2)
(1)
(1)
(6)
(1)

(2)
(1)
(1)
(17)
(2)

(2)
(1)
(1)
(6)
(1)

(2)
(1)
(1)
(17)
(2)

(28)
(2)

(22)
5

(28)
(2)

(22)
5

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

(41)

(40)

(41)

(40)

Audit fees
Statutory audit – current year
Other services

(1)
–

(1)
–

(1)
–

(1)
–

AUDIT FEES

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

– Up to 1 year
– Between 2 and 5 years

(1)
–

–
(1)

(1)
–

–
(1)

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

Interest expense:
– Interest paid on borrowings
– Dividends paid on redeemable preference shares

(3)
(83)

(1)
(84)

(3)
(83)

(1)
(84)

FINANCE COSTS

(86)

(85)

(86)

(85)

The company's operating lease commitments are as follows:

16. FINANCE COSTS

17. TAXATION
SA income tax
Current tax
– Current year

(9)

(1)

(9)

(1)

TAXATION

(9)

(1)

(9)

(1)

The tax on accounting profits differs from the
actual tax paid:
Profit before tax

7 778

Standard income tax rate of South Africa
Net income and expenses not subject to tax

28.00
(27.88)

28.00
(27.98)

28.00
(27.75)

28.00
(29.97)

0.12

0.02

0.25

0.03

%

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

6 338
%

3 593
%

2 932
%
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Group

R million

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2015

2014

Number of shares issued as at 30 June
Number of treasury shares

1 411 703 218 1 411 703 218
(447 959)
(316 799)

NUMBER OF SHARES

1 411 255 259

Weighted number of shares issued as at 30 June
Weighted number of treasury shares

1 411 703 218 1 411 703 218
(341 257)
(260 068)

WEIGHTED NUMBER OF SHARES

1 411 361 961

1 411 443 150

Diluted weighted number of shares issued as at 30 June
Diluted weighted number of treasury shares

1 411 361 961
–

1 411 443 150
6 402

DILUTED WEIGHTED NUMBER OF SHARES

1 411 361 961

1 411 449 552

Earnings
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share – basic (cents)
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders
Dilution on earnings from associate

7 769
1 411 361 961
550.5
7 769
–

6 337
1 411 443 150
449.0
6 337
(67)

DILUTED EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share – diluted (cents)
Headline earnings
Headline earnings reconciliation
Earnings
Adjusted for:
Adjustments made by associate:
Loss on disposal of investment securities and other investments of a capital nature
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale assets
Gains on disposal of investments in associates
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiaries
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Fair value movement on investment properties
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of assets in terms of IAS 36
Other
Tax effects of adjustments
Non-controlling interests adjustment
RMH's own adjustments
Profit on maturing of FirstRand BEE transaction
HEADLINE EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

Headline earnings:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Headline earnings per share – basic (cents)
Headline earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders
Dilution on earnings from associate

1 411 386 419

7 769

6 270

1 411 361 961
550.5

1 411 449 552
444.2

7 769
(592)
–
(100)
–
(75)
2
(11)
–
–
3
6
10
(427)
7 177
7 177
1 411 361 961
508.5
7 177
–

6 337
81
9
(24)
(21)
(6)
11
–
45
53
–
9
5
–
6 418
6 418
1 411 443 150
454.7
6 418
(68)

DILUTED HEADLINE EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

7 177

6 350

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Headline earnings per share – diluted (cents)

1 411 361 961
508.5

1 411 449 552
449.9
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Group
2015

2014

2015

2014

3 522
3 896
1 411 703 218
276.0

2 887
3 212
1 411 703 218
227.5

3 522
3 896
1 411 703 218
276.0

2 887
3 212
1 411 703 218
227.5

R million

19. ORDINARY DIVIDEND PER SHARE
Total dividends paid during the year
Total dividends declared during the year
Number of ordinary shares in issue
Dividends declared per share (cents)

Company

20. REL ATED PARTIES

The group defines related parties as:
(i)
Subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries;
(ii)
Associate companies;
(iii)
Joint ventures;
(iv)
Entities that have significant influence over the company. If an investor has significant influence over the company,
that investor and its subsidiaries are related parties of the company;
(v)
Post-retirement benefit funds (pension funds);
(vi)
Key management personnel, being the board of directors;
(vii) Close family members of key management personnel (individuals’ spouses/domestic partners and children; domestic
partners’ children and dependants of the individual or domestic partner); and
(viii) Entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by any individual referred to in (vi) and (vii).

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. The principal shareholders are Financial Securities Limited
(Remgro), Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary Limited and LL Dippenaar.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Only RMH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in the
company appears in the directors’ report.

ASSOCIATE
Details of the investment in associate are disclosed in note 6.
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Group

R million

20. REL ATED PARTIES

2015

2014

2015

2014

1 709

1 497

1 709

1 497

5
2

9
2

5
2

9
2

3 630
1
83
3

3 020
–
84
1

3 630
1
83
3

3 020
–
84
1

16
1 180
14

14
1 180
14

16
1 180
14

14
1 180
14

continued

Transactions of RMH and its
investment companies with:
Principal shareholders
Dividends paid

Key management personnel
Salaries and other benefits
Directors' fees
Associates
Income statement effect:
Dividends received
Interest received
Preference shares dividends paid
Finance costs
Balance sheet effect:
Cash and cash equivalents
Preference share liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans
Balance 1 July
Net borrowings raised/(repaid)
BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

Company

92
(51)

54
38

92
(51)

54
38

41

92

41

92
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Group
2015

R million

20. REL ATED PARTIES

2014

continued

Transactions of RMH's key management with associate
Loans in normal course of business (mortgages, other loans, instalment finance and
credit cards)
Balance as at 1 July
Granted during year
Repayments during year
Interest paid

56
–
(34)
1

–
56
(1)
1

23

56

Cheque and current accounts
Balance as at 1 July
Net movement
Net interest, fees and bank charges

6
238
(1)

107
(99)
(2)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

243

6

Savings accounts
Balance as at 1 July
Net movement
Interest received

15
(12)
–

6
8
1

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

3

15

Term deposits
Balance as at 1 July
Net deposits
Interest received

3
15
–

35
(34)
2

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

18

3

Ashburton funds
Balance as at 1 July
Funds invested
Return

–
10
1

–
–
–

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

11

–

3

3

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

Financial consulting fees and commissions

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

RMH had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 and 2014.

22. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The company is a participant in a defined contribution pension fund and a defined contribution provident fund.
To the extent that the company is responsible for contributions to these funds, such contribution are charged against
income as incurred. The funds are registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 24 of 1956.

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Events subsequent to the reporting date are dealt with in the directors' report.
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24. SEGMENT REPORTING
REPORTABLE SEGMENTS
Set out below is information about the reportable segments of the group, the details of the various products and services
provided by each of the reportable segments, its major customers and the basis of preparation of segment information.

FIRSTRAND
FirstRand is a diverse financial services group. It consists of a portfolio of leading financial services franchises; these are FNB
(the retail, commercial and wholesale bank), RMB (the investment bank) and WesBank (the instalment finance business).
The sub-segments of FirstRand can be described as follows:

FNB
FNB represents FirstRand's retail and commercial activities in South Africa and on the broader African continent. FNB offers
a diverse set of financial products and services to market segments, including consumer, small business, agricultural, medium
corporate, parastatals and government entities. FNB’s products include mortgage loans, credit and debit cards, personal
loans and investment products. Services include transactional and deposit taking, card acquiring, credit facilities and
distribution channels (namely the branch network, ATMs, call centres, cellphone and internet). This full range of products
and services is also provided by FNB's subsidiaries in Namibia, Botswana, Lesotho, Swaziland, Zambia, Mozambique, Tanzania
and Nigeria.

RMB
RMB is the investment and corporate banking arm of FirstRand and offers advisory, funding , trading, corporate banking and
principal investing solutions. RMB has a deal footprint across 35 African countries and offices in Namibia, Botswana, Nigeria,
Angola and Kenya and also operates in the UK, India, China and the Middle East. RMB's business units include Global
Markets, Investment Banking, Private Equity and Corporate Banking.

WESBANK
WesBank represents FirstRand's activities in vehicle and assets finance in the retail, commercial and corporate segments,
operating primarily through alliances and joint ventures with leading motor manufactures. WesBank also manages an
unsecured lending business, driven through the DirectAxis marketing origination channel in South Africa and a vehicle
finance business in the United Kingdom, MotoNovo.

CORPORATE CENTRE AND OTHER
The Corporate Centre includes various centralised risk and finance functions, including Group Treasury, Capital Management
(capital and liquidity), Financial Resource Management, Group Finance, IT, Enterprise Risk Management, Regulatory Risk
Management and Group Internal Audit. Ashburton is the investment management arm of the group. Ashburton offers new
investment and asset classes to retail and institutional investors in the form of both alternative and traditional investment
products in the South African, African, Asian and Chinese markets.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS
In terms of IFRS 8, a customer is regarded as a major customer if the revenue from transactions with this customer exceeds
10% or more of the entity's revenue. The group has no major customer as defined and is therefore not reliant on the revenue
from one or more major customers.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF SEGMENT INFORMATION
The segmental analysis is based on the information reported to management for the respective segments. The information
is prepared in terms of IFRS, with the exception of certain adjustments that are made to the segment results in order to
eliminate the effect of non-taxable income and other segment specific items that impact certain key ratios reviewed by
the chief operating decision-maker when assessing the operating segments' performance.

OTHER
Other includes RMH company, consolidation of treasury shares and consolidation entries.
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24. SEGMENT REPORTING

continued

Group

R million
Year ended 30 June 2015
Share of after-tax profit of associate
Investment income
Net fair value gain on financial assets
and liabilities

FNB

RMB

WesBank

FCC and
other

FirstRand

3 862
–

2 012
–

1 131
–

385
–

7 390
–

Other
(2)
434
83

RMH
7 388
434

–

–

–

–

–

Net income
Administration expenses

3 862
–

2 012
–

1 131
–

385
–

7 390
–

515
(41)

7 905
(41)

83

Income from operations
Finance costs

3 862

2 012

1 131

385

7 390
–

474
(86)

7 864
(86)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

3 862

2 012

1 131

385

7 390
–

388
(9)

7 778
(9)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

3 862

2 012

1 131

385

7 390

379

7 769

Headline earnings
Normalised earnings
Assets
Associate

3 862
3 839
–
–

2 012
2 000
–
–

1 131
1 131
–
–

219
270
–
–

7 224
7 240
–
36 241

(47)
(46)
282
–

7 177
7 194
282
36 241

TOTAL ASSETS

–

–

–

–

36 241

282

36 523

TOTAL LIABILITIES

–

–

–

–

–

1 349

1 349

Group
FNB

RMB

WesBank

FCC and
other

FirstRand

Other

RMH

3 295
–
–

1 861
–
–

986
–
–

281
–
–

6 423
–
–

3
15
4

6 426
15
4

–

–

–

–

–

18

18

Net income
Administration expenses

3 295
–

1 861
–

986
–

281
–

6 423
–

40
(40)

6 463
(40)

Income from operations
Finance costs

3 295
–

1 861

986
–

281
–

6 423
–

–
(85)

6 423
(85)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

3 295
–

1 861

986
–

281
–

6 423
–

(85)
(1)

6 338
(1)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

3 295

1 861

986

281

6 423

(86)

6 337

Headline earnings
Normalised earnings
Assets
Associate

3 295
3 206
–
–

1 861
1 810
–
–

986
959
–
–

362
350
–
–

6 504
6 325
–
33 348

(86)
(88)
218
–

6 418
6 237
218
33 348

TOTAL ASSETS

–

–

–

–

33 348

218

33 566

TOTAL LIABILITIES

–

–

–

–

–

1 346

1 346

R million
Year ended 30 June 2014
Share of after-tax profit of associate
Fee income
Investment income
Net fair value gain on financial assets
and liabilities
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24. SEGMENT REPORTING

continued

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
RMH does not have any geographic segments as FirstRand is viewed as a South African entity. Further details are available
in the FirstRand annual integrated report.
Group

R million

2015

2014

Attributable earnings to equity holders
Headline earnings adjustments (Note 18)

7 769
(592)

6 337
81

Headline earnings attributable to equity holders (Note 18)
RMH's share of adjustments made by associate¹:
IFRS 2 Share-based payment expenses
Treasury shares
Total Return Swap adjustment
IAS 19 adjustment
Private equity subsidiary realisations
Adjustment for:
RMH shares held by associate²
Group treasury shares3
Other4

7 177

6 418

NORMALISED EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

7 158

6 237

Normalised earnings per share
– Basic
– Diluted

507.0
507.0

441.7
441.7

26
9
(12)
(36)
63

63
34
(69)
(36)
5

1
(34)
(36)

(2)
(176)
–

DESCRIPTION OF NORMALISED EARNINGS:
RMH believes normalised earnings more accurately reflect operational performance. Headline earnings are adjusted to
take into account the following non-operational and accounting anomalies for internal management reporting purposes:
1.

RMH’s portion of normalised adjustments made by its associate FirstRand Limited which have a financial impact:
– Share-based payments, employee benefit and treasury shares: consolidation of staff share trusts; and
– FirstRand shares held for client trading activities.
– the Total Return Swap, which is an economic hedge against the share-based payment obligation;
– the consolidation of private equity subsidiaries which is excluded from Rule 1 exemption of Circular 2/2013, Headline
Earnings per Share; and
– IAS 19 measurement of plan asset.

2.

RMH shares held for client trading activities by FirstRand.

3.

Adjustment to reflect earnings impact based on actual RMH shareholding in FirstRand.

4.

The once-off hedge break gain realised on the restructuring of the preference share facility on 21 August 2014.
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25. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
VALUATION METHODOLOGY
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price. Fair value is therefore a market-based measurement
and, when measuring fair value, RMH uses the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing an asset or
liability under current market conditions, including assumptions about risk. When determining fair value it is presumed that
the entity is a going concern and the fair value is therefore not an amount that represents a forced transaction, involuntary
liquidation or a distressed sale.
The fair value of publicly traded derivatives is based on quoted bid prices for assets held or liabilities to be issued and current
offer prices for assets to be acquired and liabilities held. The fair value of non-traded derivatives is based on discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. The group recognises derivatives as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at
initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received), unless the fair value
of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument
(i.e. without modification or repackaging), or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from
observable markets. When such evidence exists, the group recognises profits or losses on day one. Where fair value is
determined using valuation techniques whose variables include non-observable market data, the difference between the
fair value and the transaction price (the day one profit or loss) is not recognised in the statement of financial position. These
differences are, however, monitored for disclosure purposes. If observable market factors that market participants would
consider in setting a price subsequently become available, the balance of the deferred day one profit or loss is released
to profit or loss
Fair value measurements are determined on both a recurring and non-recurring basis.

Recurring fair value measurements
Recurring fair value measurements are those for assets and liabilities that IFRS requires or permits to be recognised at fair
value and are recognised in the statement of financial position at reporting date. This includes financial assets, financial
liabilities and non-financial assets.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
When determining the fair value of a financial instrument, RMH uses the most representative price.

Non-financial assets
When determining the fair value of a non-financial asset, a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the assets in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use, is taken into account. This includes the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible
and financially feasible.

Non-recurring fair value measurements
Non-recurring fair value measurements are those triggered by particular circumstances and include the classification of
assets and liabilities as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale under IFRS 5, where fair value less costs to sell is the
recoverable amount, IFRS 3 Business Combinations, where assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at acquisition date,
and IAS 36 Impairments of Assets, where fair value less costs to sell is the recoverable amount. These fair value measurements
are determined on a case by case basis as they occur within each reporting period.

OTHER FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Other fair value measurements include assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which fair value disclosures are
required under another IFRS, e.g. financial instruments at amortised cost. The fair value for these items is determined by using
observable quoted market prices where these are available, or in accordance with generally acceptable pricing models,
such as a discounted cash flow analysis.
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25. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

continued

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND MEASUREMENTS
Valuations based on observable inputs include:
•

•

Level 1 – fair value is based on quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments as
measured on reporting date. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency
to provide pricing information on an on-going basis.
Level 2 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on observable market inputs. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates.

Valuations based on unobservable inputs include:
•

Level 3 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques which use significant unobservable inputs.

The table below sets out the valuation techniques applied by RMH for fair value measurements of financial assets and
liabilities categorised as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
Description of valuation
technique and main
assumptions

Fair value
hierarchy level

Valuation
technique

Level 2

Industry standard
model

The models calculate fair
value based on input
parameters such as stock
prices and interest rates.

Market interest rates and
prices

Level 2
Financial assets and
liabilities not measured
at fair value but for
which fair values are
disclosed

Discounted cash
flows

The future cash flows are
discounted using a market
related interest rate and
curves adjusted for credit
inputs.

Market interest rates and
curves

Instrument
Derivative financial
instruments – Equity
derivative

Observable inputs
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25. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

continued

Group
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2015
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Equity instruments
– at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Investment in associate

229
–
101 864

–
36
–

–
–
–

229
36
101 864

FINANCIAL ASSET RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

R million

102 093

36

–

102 129

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

1 182
46

–
–

1 182
46

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

–

1 228

–

1 228

Group

R million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2014
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Equity instruments
– at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Investment in associate

178
–
77 850

–
20
–

–
–
–

178
20
77 850

FINANCIAL ASSET RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

78 028

20

–

78 048

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

1 180
17

–
–

1 180
17

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

–

1 197

–

1 197

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the current and prior year.
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25. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

continued

Company
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2015
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Equity instruments
– at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Investment in associate

229
–
101 864

–
36
–

–
–
–

229
36
101 864

FINANCIAL ASSETS RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

R million

102 093

36

–

102 129

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

1 182
46

–
–

1 182
46

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

–

1 228

–

1 228

Company

R million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2014
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Equity instruments
– at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Investment in associate

178
–
77 850

–
20
–

–
–
–

178
20
77 850

FINANCIAL ASSETS RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

78 028

20

–

78 048

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

1 180
17

–
–

1 180
17

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE

–

1 197

–

1 197

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the current and prior year.
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26. REMUNERATION SCHEMES
RMH does not operate an equity-settled share incentive scheme. RMH does operate a cash-settled share scheme as part
of its remuneration philosophy, which tracks the company’s share price and settles in cash. Details of the RMH cash-settled
scheme are as follows:
Group

R million
The charge to profit or loss for the share-based payments
are as follows:
Share appreciation rights
Deferred bonus
The statement of financial position effect:
Share-based payment reserve
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

20
–

16
1

20
–

16
1

–
18
9

1
9
5

–
18
9

1
9
5

DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHEME
RMH share appreciation rights
The purpose of this scheme is to provide identified employees, including executive directors, with the opportunity of receiving
incentive remuneration payments based on the increase in the market value of ordinary shares in RMB Holdings Limited.
Entitlement to incentive remuneration payments is predicated on the achievement of real growth in normalised earnings.
Appreciation rights may only be exercised by the third anniversary of the grant date, provided that the performance
objectives set for the grant have been achieved.

VALUATION METHODOLOGY
RMH share appreciation rights
The share appreciation rights scheme issues are valued using the Cox Rubenstein binomial tree. The scheme is cash-settled
and will thus be repriced at each reporting date.
Market data consists of the following:
•
•
•

Volatility is the expected volatility over the period of the option. Historic volatility was used as a proxy for expected
valuation.
The interest rate is the risk free rate of return, as recorded on the last day of the financial year, on a swap curve of a term
equal to the expected life of the share appreciation right.
A fixed dividend yield was assumed.

Employee statistic assumptions:
•

No forfeiture rate is used due to the number of employees participating in the scheme.
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26. REMUNERATION SCHEMES

continued

Deferred bonus
The deferred bonus scheme matured during 2013 and the last grant was exercised during the current year.
The significant weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options and share awards granted and the
IFRS 2 expenses for the year under review are:
RMH share
appreciation
right scheme
Strike price (Rands) range options were granted at
Weighted average (Rands)
Expected volatility (%)
Expected option life (years)
Expected risk free rate (%)
Expected dividend yield (%)

35.5 – 52.6
40,3
25.1
5
6.12 – 7.60
3.8

Information on number of shares granted, strike price and vesting dates are provided below:

Number of options and share awards in force at the beginning of the year
Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards granted during the year
Granted at (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards exercised/released during the year
Market value at date of exercise/release (Rands)
Weighted average share price for the year (Rands)
NUMBER OF OPTIONS AND SHARE AWARDS IN FORCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
For the year ended 30 June 2014
Number of options and share awards in force at the beginning of the year
Granted at (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards granted during the year
Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards exercised/released during the year
Market value at date of exercise/release (Rands)
Weighted average share price for the year (Rands)
NUMBER OF OPTIONS AND SHARE AWARDS IN FORCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)

RMH share
appreciation
right scheme

Deferred
bonus
plan

1 794 283
34.3 – 47.8
38.1

22 229
–
–

81 586
52.6
52.6

–
–
–

(217 063)
58.1
62.8

(22 229)
–
–

1 658 806

–

35.5 – 52.6
40.3

–
–

1 480 466
34.0
38.1

45 634
–
–

613 817
43.4 – 47.8
46.1

–
–
–

(300 000)
47.5
46.2

(23 405)
–
–

1 794 283

22 229

34.3 – 47.8
38.1

–
–
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27. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK
The group is exposed to various financial risks in connection with its current operating activities, such as market risk, currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and capital adequacy risk. To manage these risks, associate boards established sub-committees
to which it has delegated some of its responsibilities in meeting its corporate governance and fiduciary duties. The subcommittees include an audit and risk committee and a remuneration committee. Each committee adopted a charter,
which sets out the objectives, authority, composition and responsibilities of the committee. The boards approved the
charters of these committees.
These risks contribute to the key financial risk, the proceeds from the RMH’s financial assets. Additional information on the
management of financial risks is provided below:

Market risk
The risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument denominated in a currency other than the reporting
currency may fluctuate due to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the reporting currency and the
currency in which such instrument is denominated.
The group and company had no exposure to currency risk at 30 June 2015 and 2014.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is when the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.
The table below reflects the equity holders’ exposure to interest rate risk. The effective interest rate method is used and an
interest rate shock of 200bps applied to the underlying interest rate. An increase or decrease in the market interest rate
would result in the following changes in the profit before tax of the group:
Group

R million
Cash and cash
equivalents
Financial liabilities
– Preference shares
– Interest-bearing
loans
* Amount less than R500k.

Company

200bps
increase
2015

200bps
decrease
2015

200bps
increase
2014

200bps
decrease
2014

200bps
increase
2015

200bps
decrease
2015

200bps
increase
2014

200bps
decrease
2014

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(1)

1

(1)

1

(1)

1

(1)

1
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27. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

continued

Other price risk
Equity risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or
factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
All equities are split between listed and unlisted securities.
The table below reflects the equity holders’ exposure to equity price risk. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the
equity prices would result in the following changes in the profit before tax of the group:
Group

R million
Assets
Financial assets
– Listed shares
Derivative financial
instrument
Liabilities
Derivative financial
instrument

10%
increase
2015

10%
decrease
2015

Company

10%
increase
2014

10%
decrease
2014

10%
increase
2015

10%
decrease
2015

10%
increase
2014

10%
decrease
2014

23

(23)

18

(18)

23

(23)

18

(18)

11

(11)

9

(9)

11

(11)

9

(9)

(18)

18

(14)

14

(18)

18

(14)

14
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27. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

continued

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation. The key areas where the group is exposed to credit risk are:
•
•
•

Loans and receivables;
Cash and cash equivalents; and
Derivative financial instruments. No defaults were experienced on loans and receivables.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk. The creditworthiness of existing and potential exposures is monitored
quarterly at the board meeting. The table below provides information on the credit risk exposure by credit ratings at the
year-end (if available):

R million
Group
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Derivative financial instruments

Company
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Derivative financial instruments

BBB+

Not rated

Balance
as at
30 June
2014

BBB-

Not rated

Balance
as at
30 June
2015

16
–
–

–
1
36

16
1
36

14
–
–

–
6
20

14
6
20

16

37

53

14

26

40

16
–
–

–
1
36

16
1
36

14
–
–

–
6
20

14
6
20

16

37

53

14

26

40

The ratings were obtained from Fitch. The ratings are based on long-term investment horizons. Where long-term ratings are
not available, the financial instruments are categorised according to short-term ratings. The ratings are defined as follows:

LONG-TERM INVESTMENT GRADE:
BBB-

”BBB-” rating denote expectations of low default risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is
considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic
condition that those rated AA or AAA. This is considered the lowest investment grade by market participants.

BBB+

”BBB” rating indicates that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of
financial commitments is considered adequate but adverse business or economic condition are more than
likely to impair this capacity.

Not rated

The credit exposure for the assets listed above is considered acceptable by the board even though certain
assets do not have a formal rating.
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27. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

continued

LIQUIDITY RISK AND ASSET LIABILITY MATCHING
Liquidity risk is the risk that RMH will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. RMH’s
liabilities are matched by appropriate assets and it has significant liquid resources to cover its obligations. The group’s
liquidity and ability to meet cash calls are monitored quarterly at the board meeting. RMH is exposed to roll-over risk in the
bracket years 2 – 5 but the board is comfortable with this risk, due to the liquidity of its non-financial asset.
Contractual discounted cash flow analysis
Group

R million

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

2–5
years

Over
5 years

Nonfinancial

Total

As at 30 June 2015
Total assets
Total liabilities

246
(148)

–
–

36
(1 180)

–
–

36 241
(21)

36 523
(1 349)

NET LIQUIDITY GAP

98

–

(1 144)

–

36 220

35 174

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

98

98

(1 046)

35 174

35 174

198
(129)

–
–

20
(1 206)

–
–

33 348
(11)

33 566
(1 346)

NET GAP

69

–

(1 186)

–

33 337

32 220

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

69

69

(1 117)

32 220

32 220

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

Nonfinancial

Total

As at 30 June 2014
Total assets
Total liabilities

(1 046)

(1 117)

Company

R million

2–5
years

Over
5 years

As at 30 June 2015
Total assets
Total liabilities

246
(148)

–
–

36
(1 180)

–
–

11 732
(21)

12 014
(1 349)

NET LIQUIDITY GAP

98

–

(1 144)

–

11 711

10 665

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

98

98

(1 046)

10 665

10 665

–
–

20
(1 206)

11 732
(11)

11 950
(1 346)

As at 30 June 2014
Total assets
Total liabilities

198
(129)

NET GAP

69

–

(1 186)

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

69

69

(1 117)

(1 046)
–
–
–
(1 117)

11 721

10 604

10 604

10 604
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27. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

continued

LIQUIDITY RISK AND ASSET LIABILITY MATCHING continued
Undiscounted cash flow analysis
Group
0–6
months

7 – 12
months

2–5
years

Total

42
–
–
60

42
–
–
–

1 300
46
18
–

1 384
46
18
60

102

42

1 364

1 508

As at 30 June 2014
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables

42
–
–
46

41
–
–
–

1 384
17
9
–

1 467
17
9
46

TOTAL LIABILITIES

88

41

1 410

1 539

R million
As at 30 June 2015
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
TOTAL LIABILITIES

Company

R million
As at 30 June 2015
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

2–5
years

Total

42
–
–
60

42
–
–
–

1 300
46
18
–

1 384
46
18
60

102

42

1 364

1 508

As at 30 June 2014
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables

42
–
–
46

41
–
–
–

1 384
17
9
–

1 467
17
9
46

TOTAL LIABILITIES

88

41

1 410

1 539

TOTAL LIABILITIES
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Capital adequacy risk is the risk that there are insufficient reserves to provide for variations in actual future experience that
is worse than what has been assumed in the financial soundness valuation. RMH is not regulated and therefore does not
have any regulatory capital requirements. RMH maintains a capital balance that will be at least sufficient to meet
obligations in the event of substantial deviations from the main risk assumptions affecting the RMH business. This is used to
determine required capital levels that will ensure sustained solvency within an acceptable confidence level.
RMH’s objectives when managing capital are:
•
•

to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for equity
holders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
to provide an adequate return to equity holders by pricing insurance commensurately with the level of risk.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
Management regard share capital, share premium, retained earnings, contingency reserves, as well as a portion of the
unrealised profit in the listed associate as capital when managing capital and determining debt/equity ratios. During the
year, the group’s strategy remained unchanged.

RMH has a fairly unleveraged balance sheet and therefore has decided to implement a debt programme to have
the flexibility to be able to raise funding, should an opportunity arise.
LOAN COVENANTS
The current loan covenants are:
•
•
•

The aggregate market capitalisation of RMH declines by more than 60% in any rolling 12-month period.
RMH requires the prior written consent of the holder to increase its aggregate indebtedness to more than R15 billion.
If the aggregate market capitalisation of RMH declines at any time to below four times its aggregate indebtedness at
the time, for whatever reason, RMH has to rectify the situation to the satisfaction of the holder.
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SHAREHOLDING
As at 26 June 2015
Number of
shareholders
Analysis of shareholding
Major shareholders (owners)
holding more than 5%
Remgro
Royal Bafokeng
Public Investment Commissioner
LL Dippenaar (direct and indirect)

1
1
1
1

Shares held
(000’s)

397
211
141
75

As at 27 June 2014
%

Number of
shareholders

421
755
134
329

28.2
15.0
10.0
5.3

1
1
1
1

Shares held
(000’s)

394
211
163
75

%

431
755
980
329

27.9
15.0
11.6
5.3

Total of shareholders holding
more than 5%
Shareholders holding less than 5% each

4
31 571

825 639
586 064

58.5
41.5

4
29 816

845 495
566 208

59.8
40.2

TOTAL

31 575

1 411 703

100

29 820

1 411 703

100

750 580
195 050
24 430
177 022
58 002
206 619

53.2
13.8
1.7
12.6
4.1
14.6

750 559
219 191
21 731
174 226
57 564
188 432

53.2
15.5
1.5
12.3
4.1
13.4

1 411 703

100

1 411 703

100

31 565

661 123

46.8

29 810

661 145

46.8

2
8

609 176
141 404

43.2
10.0

2
8

606 186
144 372

43.0
10.2

31 575

1 411 703

100

29 820

1 411 703

100

Geographic ownership
South Africa
International

1 227 833
183 871

87.0
13.0

1 246 296
165 407

88.3
11.7

TOTAL

1 411 703

100

1 411 703

100

Shareholder type
Corporates
Pension funds
Insurance companies and banks
Unit trusts
Individuals
Other
TOTAL

Public and non-public shareholders
Public
Non-public
– Corporates (Remgro and Royal
Bafokeng)
– Directors and associates
TOTAL

The information above is extracted from the shareholder analysis provided by Orient Capital.
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PERFORMANCE ON THE JSE LIMITED

Number of shares in issue (000’s)
Market price (cents)
– Closing*
– High**
– Low**
– Weighted average **

2015

2014

1 411 703

1 411 703

6
7
5
6

5
5
3
4

645
289
234
275

259
349
766
628

Closing price/net asset value per share*
Closing price/headline earnings per share*

2.7
13.3

2.3
11.6

Volumes of shares traded (millions)**

329

352

Value of shares traded (R million)**

20 652

16 303

Market capitalisation (R million)*

93 808

74 241

Ranked by market capitalisation

23

22

* as at 30 June.
** for the period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY
REPORTING
INTERIM RESULTS FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR
Announcement for the six months ending 31 December 2015
FINAL RESULTS FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR
Announcement for the year ending 30 June 2016
Posting of the annual integrated report
Annual general meeting

Early March 2016

Mid-September 2016
End-October 2016
End-November 2016

DIVIDENDS
INTERIM DIVIDEND FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR
Declare
Payable
FINAL DIVIDEND FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR
Declare
Payable

Early March 2016
End-March 2016

Mid-September 2016
Mid-October 2016
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
This document (which is available in English only) is important and requires your immediate attention. The action you
need to take is set out in this notice. If you are in any doubt as to what action to take, please consult your broker, attorney
or other professional advisor immediately.
RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1987/005115/06)
Share code: RMH
ISIN: ZAE000024501
(RMH or the company)
Notice is hereby given to the holders of ordinary shares in the company (shareholders), in terms of section 62(1) of
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, (Companies Act), that the twenty eighth annual general meeting of the ordinary
shareholders of RMH will be held in the executive boardroom, 3rd floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner Fredman Drive
and Rivonia Road, Sandton on Friday, 20 November 2015 at 09:00 to consider and, if approved, pass the following
resolutions with or without modification.
The record date in terms of section 59 of the Companies Act for shareholders to be recorded in the securities register of
the company in order to be able to attend, participate and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 13 November
2015. Accordingly, the last day to trade in order to be able to attend, participate and vote at the annual general meeting
is Friday, 6 November 2015. This notice will be sent to all shareholders who are recorded as such in the company’s securities
register on Friday, 16 October 2015.

AGENDA
1.

PRESENTATION OF THE AUDITED GROUP AND SEPARATE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The audited group and separate annual financial statements (as approved by the board of directors of the
company), including the reports of the external auditor, audit and risk committee and directors for the financial year
ended 30 June 2015, all of which are included in the 2015 annual integrated report, of which this notice forms a part
(annual integrated report).
Shareholders are referred to page 45 of the annual integrated report for the report from the social, ethics and
transformation committee of RMH.

2.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Re-election of directors
To re-elect, by way of separate resolutions, the following directors, who retire in terms of the company's memorandum
of incorporation (MOI) and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

2.1

Leon Crouse (62)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 25 May 2011
Educational qualifications: CA(SA)
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited, MMI Holdings Limited, Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited (alternate)
and Remgro Limited

2.2

Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar (66)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 12 November 1987
Educational qualifications: MCom, CA(SA)
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited and Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited
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2.3

Jan Willem Dreyer (64)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 19 October 1987
Educational qualifications: BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law; HDip Tax
Listed directorships: Rand Merchant Insurance Holding Limited

2.4

Paul Kenneth Harris (65)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 12 November 1987
Educational qualifications: MCom
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited, Rand Merchant Insurance Holding Limited and Remgro Limited

2.5

Albertina Kekana (42)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 6 February 2013
Educational qualifications: BCom (Hons), CA(SA), Advanced Management Programme (Harvard)
Listed directorships: Impala Platinum Holdings Limited and Rand Merchant Insurance Holding Limited (alternate)
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 1
A brief CV of each of the persons mentioned above appears on pages 34 to 37 of the annual integrated report.

3.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
Approval of remuneration policy
Resolved that shareholders endorse the company’s remuneration policy and its implementation.
The company’s remuneration report is set out on pages 43 to 44 of the annual integrated report.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 2
In terms of King III, the company’s remuneration policy should be tabled for a non-binding advisory vote at the
annual general meeting. The essence of this vote is to enable the ordinary shareholders to express their views on the
remuneration policies adopted and on its implementation. Shareholders are accordingly requested to approve the
company’s remuneration policy.

4.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
Place 15% (fifteen percent) of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors
Resolved that 15% (fifteen percent) of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the company, which equates
to 88 244 518 ordinary shares, be and are hereby placed under the control of the directors as a general authority
until the forthcoming annual general meeting and that the directors be and are hereby authorised to allot, issue
and otherwise dispose of such shares to such person or persons upon such terms and conditions as the directors in
their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements, when applicable.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 3
Shareholders should note that 15% (fifteen percent) or 88 244 518 of the company’s authorised but unissued ordinary
shares represents approximately 6% (six percent) of the issued ordinary shares. As at 30 June 2015 this was valued at
approximately R5.9 billion.
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5.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash
Resolved that the board of directors of the company be and are hereby authorised, by way of a renewable general
authority, to issue those ordinary shares in the share capital of the company under the control of the directors for
cash as and when they in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the MOI and the JSE Listings
Requirements, when applicable, and provided that:
•

this authority shall be valid until the company's next annual general meeting or for 15 (fifteen) months from the
date of this resolution, whichever period is shorter;

•

the ordinary shares must be issued to public shareholders as defined by the JSE Listings Requirements and not to
related parties;
–

•

•

•

securities which are the subject of the general issue of shares for cash may not exceed 141 170 322 shares,
being 10% (ten percent) of the number of listed equity securities of the company as at the date of this notice
of annual general meeting, provided that:
• any equity securities issued under this authority during the period must be deducted from the number
above;
• in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of issued equity securities during the period contemplated
above, the existing authority must be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio; and
• the calculation of the listed equity securities is a factual assessment of the listed equity securities as at the
date of the notice of annual general meeting, excluding treasury shares;

in determining the price at which an issue of shares may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum
discount at which the ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price
of the company's ordinary shares measured over 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the
issue is determined or agreed by the directors of the company and the party subscribing for the securities;
a paid press announcement giving full details, will be published at the time of any issue representing, on a
cumulative basis within the period of this authority, 5% (five percent) or more of the number of ordinary shares in
issue prior to that issue, in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements; and
any such general issue is subject to exchange control regulations and approval at that time.

Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 4
Approval for this ordinary resolution is obtained by achieving a 75% (seventy five percent) majority of the votes cast
in favour of this resolution at the annual general meeting by all equity security holders entitled to vote thereon and
present or represented by proxy.
6.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
Approval of re-appointment of auditor
Resolved that, as nominated by the audit and risk committee, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. be re-appointed as
auditor of the company until the next annual general meeting.

7.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6
Appointment of the company’s audit and risk committee members
Resolved, by way of separate resolutions, that the following persons, who are independent non-executive directors
of the company, be and are hereby elected as members of the audit and risk committee with effect from the end
of this annual general meeting:
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7.1

Jan Willem Dreyer (64)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 19 October 1987
Educational qualifications: BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law, HDip Tax
Listed directorships: Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited

7.2

Sonja Emilia Ncumisa De Bruyn-Sebotsa (43)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 15 February 2008
Educational qualifications: LLB (Hons) LSE, MA (McGill), SFA (UK), Executive Leadership Programme (Harvard University)
Listed directorships: Aquarius Platinum Limited, Discovery Holdings Limited and Rand Merchant Insurance
Holdings Limited

7.3

Per-Erik Lagerström (51)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 30 June 2014
Educational qualifications: BSc (Accounting), MSc (Economics) (London School of Economics)
Listed directorships: Rand Merchant Insurance Holdings Limited
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 6
A brief CV of each of the persons mentioned above appears on pages 34 to 37 of the annual integrated report.

8.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration with effect from 1 December 2015
Resolved, as a special resolution in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, that the following remuneration of
the non-executive directors for their services as directors of the company from 1 December 2015, as set out below,
be and is hereby approved
Per annum
Board (4 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Director
Audit and risk committee (2 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Member
Ad hoc meetings (per hour)
Social and ethic committee (2 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Member
Remuneration committee (1 meeting per annum)
– Chairman
– Member

R303 400
R152 200
R76 000
R37 950
R3 650
R14 600
R11 680
R3 650
R2 920

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 1
The reason for special resolution number 1 is to approve the remuneration of the non-executive directors, effective
from 1 December 2015.
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9.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
General authority to repurchase company shares
Resolved that the acquisition by the company, and/or any subsidiary of the company, from time to time of the issued
ordinary shares of the company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the directors of the
company may from time to time determine, be and is hereby authorised, but subject to the MOI, the Companies
Act and JSE Listings Requirements, when applicable, and provided that:
•
•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

this authority shall be valid until the company's next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend
beyond fifteen (15) months from the date of passing this special resolution;
any such repurchase be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without
any prior understanding or agreement between the company and the counterparty (reported trades are
prohibited);
a paid press release, giving such details as may be required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, be published
when the company or its subsidiaries have cumulatively repurchased 3% (three percent) of the initial number of
the relevant class of shares, and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class
acquired thereafter;
a general repurchase may not in the aggregate in any one financial year exceed 10% (ten percent) of the
number of shares in the company's issued share capital as at the beginning of the financial year, provided that
subsidiaries of the company may not at any one time hold more than 10% (ten percent) in aggregate of the
number of issued shares of the company;
no repurchases will be effected during a prohibited period unless there is in place a repurchase programme
where the dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to any
variation) and details thereof have been submitted to the JSE in writing. In this regard, the company will instruct
an independent third party, which makes its investment decisions in relation to the company’s securities
independently of, and uninfluenced by, the company, prior to the commencement of the prohibited period to
execute the repurchase programme submitted to the JSE;
at any point in time, the company may only appoint one agent to effect repurchases on the company's behalf;
a resolution has been passed by the board of directors of the company authorising the repurchase, and the
company and its subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity test as set out in section 4 of the Companies
Act and that since the application of the solvency and liquidity test, there have been no material changes to
the financial position of the company and the group;
in determining the price at which shares may be repurchased in terms of this authority, the maximum premium
permitted will be 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average traded price of the ordinary shares as
determined over the five (5) days prior to the date of repurchase; and
any such general repurchase are subject to exchange control regulations and approvals at the point in time,
where relevant.

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 2
The board has no immediate intention to use this authority to repurchase company shares. However, the board is of
the opinion that this authority should be in place should it become appropriate to undertake a share repurchase in
the future.
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After having considered the effect on the company of the repurchase contemplated under this general authority,
the directors are of the opinion that, and undertake that they will not commence a general repurchase of shares
as contemplated above, unless the following can be met:
•
•

•
•

the company and the group will, in the ordinary course of business, be able to pay its debts for a period of 12
months after the date of the repurchase;
the assets of the company and the group will be in excess of the liabilities of the company and its subsidiaries for
a period of 12 months after the date of the repurchase. For this purpose, the assets and liabilities will be
recognised and measured for this purpose in accordance with the accounting policies used in the audited
annual group financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015;
the company's and the group’s ordinary share capital and reserves will be adequate for ordinary business
purposes for a period of 12 months following the date of the repurchase; and
the company and the group will, after such repurchase, have sufficient working capital for ordinary business
purposes for a period of 12 months following the date of the repurchase.

For purposes of considering this special resolution and in compliance with section 11.26 of the JSE Listings
Requirements, the information listed below has been included in the annual integrated report in the places indicated:
1. Major shareholders – refer page 107;
2. There have been no material changes in the financial and trading position of the company that have occurred
since the end of the last financial period for which audited annual financial statements have been published, as
set out in the annual integrated report, of which this notice forms part;
3. Share capital of the company – refer page 83;
4. The directors, whose names are given in on page 34 to 37 of this annual integrated report, collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in these notes 1 to 3 and certify
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make
any statement in these notes 1 to 3 false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts
have been made and that the notice contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.
10.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
Financial assistance to directors, prescribed officers, employee share scheme beneficiaries and related or interrelated
companies
Resolved, as a special resolution of the company in terms of section 44 and 45 of the Companies Act, that the
directors of the company may, subject to compliance with the MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings
Requirements, when applicable, each as presently constituted and as amended from time to time during the 2
(two) years commencing on the date of this special resolution, authorise the company to provide direct or indirect
financial assistance (as contemplated in sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act) to, inter alia, a director or
prescribed officer of the company or corporation which is related or interrelated to the company on such term and
conditions as the directors of the company determine, provided that nothing in this approval will limit the provision
by the company of financial assistance that does not require approval by way of special resolution of the ordinary
shareholders in terms of sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act or falls within the exemptions contained in
these sections.
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Additional information in respect of special resolution number 3
The reason for special resolution number 3 is to grant the directors of the company the authority required by the
Companies Act to provide direct or indirect financial assistance through, inter alia, the lending of money,
guaranteeing of a loan or other obligation and securing any debt or obligation, to its subsidiaries, associates and
interrelated parties of the company.
11.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
Creation of an additional class of authorised shares
Resolved, as a special resolution, but subject to the adoption of the revised memorandum of incorporation
contemplated in special resolution number 5 below, that the number of authorised shares in the company be and
is hereby increased by the creation of 100 000 000 (hundred million) unlisted redeemable no par value preference
shares (preference shares), such that the company will be authorised to issue the following shares after the filing of
the revised memorandum of incorporation contemplated in special resolution number 5 below –
1. 2 000 000 000 (two billion) ordinary shares with a par value of R0.01 (one cent) each;
2. 100 000 000 (one hundred million) redeemable, cumulative, preference shares with a par value of R0.01
(one cent) each;
3. 100 000 000 (one hundred million) redeemable, cumulative no par value preference shares; and
4. 100 000 000 (one hundred million) redeemable, no par value preference shares, as recorded in clause 7.1 of such
revised memorandum of incorporation, read together with schedule 1 thereto.
Additional information in respect of special resolution number 4
The purpose of this proposed special resolution number 4 is to create the preference shares, which are required in
order to implement and give effect to the company's proposed R15 000 000 000 (fifteen billion Rand) Domestic
Medium-Term Note and Preference Share Programme (as described on page 105 of the company's annual
integrated report, of which this notice forms a part) (programme).
The programme is intended to commence on the date on which the company issues the corresponding programme
memorandum and is currently being capped at an aggregate amount of R15 000 000 000 (fifteen billion Rand),
although the intention is not to realise such full amount in the short term, unless specific opportunities present
themselves to the company).
The preferences, rights, limitations and other terms associated with the preference shares are contained in schedule
4 to the revised memorandum of incorporation contemplated in special resolution number 5 below, a complete
copy of which may be inspected at the company’s registered office (3rd floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner Fredman
Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton), during normal business hours from Friday, 23 October 2015 up to and including
Friday, 20 November 2015. A copy is also available on the company's website (www.rmbh.co.za) and can be
obtained from the company secretary by email at ellen.marais@rmbh.co.za.
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12.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
Adoption of a revised MOI
Resolved, as a special resolution in terms of section 16(1)(c) of the Companies Act, that a new memorandum of
incorporation (revised MOI) (in the form of the draft tabled at this general meeting and initialled by the chairman
of the meeting for the purposes of identification) be and is hereby adopted in substitution for and to the exclusion
of the entire existing memorandum of incorporation of the company (existing MOI), with effect from the date on
which the corresponding notice of amendment is filed with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission
as contemplated in terms of section 16(9)(b) of the Companies Act, in order to give effect to the increase in the
number of authorised shares in the company as contemplated in special resolution number 4 above.
Additional information in respect of special resolution number 5
The purpose of this proposed special resolution number 5 is to adopt the revised MOI in order to give effect to
the increase in the number of authorised shares in the company as contemplated in special resolution number 4
above, with the only revisions to the existing MOI pertaining to such increase in the number of authorised shares
in the company.
A complete copy of the revised MOI may be inspected at the company’s registered office (3rd floor, 2 Merchant
Place, corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton), during normal business hours from Friday, 23 October 2015
up to and including Friday, 20 November 2015.
A copy is also available on the company’s website. (www.rmbh.co.za) and can be obtained from the company
secretary by email at ellen.marais@rmbh.co.za.

13.

TO TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT MAY BE TRANSACTED AT AN ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Approvals required for resolutions
Ordinary resolutions number 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 contained in this notice of annual general meeting require the approval
of more than 50% (fifty percent) of the votes exercised on each resolution by shareholders present, or represented
by proxy, at the annual general meeting.
Ordinary resolution number 4 (general authority to issue shares for cash) and special resolutions number 1, 2, 3, 4
and 5 contained in this notice of annual general meeting require the approval of at least 75% (seventy five percent)
of the votes exercised on each resolution by shareholders present, or represented by proxy, at the annual
general meeting.
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IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING ATTENDANCE AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
GENERAL
Shareholders wishing to attend the annual general meeting have to ensure beforehand with the transfer secretaries of the
company that their shares are in fact registered in their name.
CERTIFICATED MEMBERS
Shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with "own name"
registration are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting and are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak
and vote in their stead. The person so appointed need not be a shareholder. Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach
company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or at fax number 011 688 5238 and be received by them no later than 09:00 on
Wednesday, 18 November 2015. Before a proxy exercises any rights of a shareholder at the annual general meeting, such
form of proxy must be so delivered.
DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, other than those members who have dematerialised their shares with
“own name” registration, should contact their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker in the manner and
time stipulated in their agreement:
•
•

to furnish them with their voting instructions; and
in the event that they wish to attend the meeting, to obtain the necessary authority to do so.

Voting will be by way of a poll and every shareholder of the company present, whether in person or represented by proxy,
shall have one vote for every share held in the company by such shareholder.
Shares held by a share trust or scheme, treasury shares and unlisted shares will not have their votes at the annual general
meeting taken into account for the purposes of any resolution proposed in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.
ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION
Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the annual general meeting by way of a teleconference call, provided
that if they wish to do so they must contact the company secretary by email at ellen.marais@rmbh.co.za by no later than
17h00 on 18 November 2015 in order to obtain a PIN number and dial-in details for that conference call.
Voting by way of teleconference call will only be permitted if the applicable shareholder is represented by a proxy who
is physically present at the meeting and in respect of whom a proxy form has been duly submitted in accordance with
the provisions contained in this notice of annual general meeting.
Shareholders wishing to participate in this manner are reminded that they will be billed separately by their respective
telephone service providers.
PROOF OF IDENTIFICATION REQUIRED
Kindly note that, in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, participants at the meeting (including shareholders and
proxies) will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification, and the person presiding at the annual general
meeting must be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote (whether as a shareholder or
as proxy for a shareholder) has been reasonably verified, before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’
meeting.
Acceptable forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

118
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

continued

SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
In compliance with the provisions of section 58(8)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, a summary of the rights of a shareholder to
be represented by proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act, is set out below –
•

•

•
•
•

•

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint any individual (or two or more
individuals) as a proxy or as proxies to attend, participate in and vote at the annual general meeting in the place of
the shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.
A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing the proxy, and, subject to
the rights of a shareholder to revoke such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of the
annual general meeting.
A proxy may delegate the proxy's authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any
restrictions set out in the instrument appointing the proxy.
The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed such
proxy chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.
The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question by cancelling it in writing, or making a later
inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the
company. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy's
authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of (a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any;
and (b) the date on which the revocation instrument is delivered to the company as required in the first sentence of
this paragraph.
If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the company, as long as that appointment
remains in effect, any notice that is required by the Companies Act or the MOI to be delivered by the company to the
shareholder, must be delivered by the company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder
has (i) directed the company to do so in writing; and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing
so.

Attention is also drawn to the instructions on signing and lodging the form of proxy on page 120.
By order of the board of directors

Ellen Marais
Company secretary
23 October 2015
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FORM OF PROXY
Only for use by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration.

RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1987/005115/06)
Share code: RMH
ISIN: ZAE000024501
(RMH or the company)
For use by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares but with “own name” registration, at the annual general
meeting to be held at 09:00 on Friday, 20 November 2015, in the executive boardroom, 3rd floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road,
Sandton, and at any adjournment thereof.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, other than with “own name” registration, must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or
broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authorisation to attend or they
must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person.
I/We, the undersigned (name)
of (address)
the registered holder of
ordinary shares in RMB Holdings Limited (Registration number 1987/005115/06), hereby appoint
1.

, of

or failing him

2.

, of

or failing him

3.

the chairman of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to be present and act on my/our behalf, speak and on a poll, vote on my/our behalf as
indicated below at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the company to be held at 09:00 on Friday, 20 November 2015 and at any adjournment
thereof as follows: (see note 2)
Insert an “X” or the number of votes
exercisable (one vote per ordinary share)
In favour of

Against

Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1
Re-election of directors
1.1 Leon Crouse
1.2 Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar
1.3 Jan Willem Dreyer
1.4 Paul Kenneth Harris
1.5 Albertina Kekana
Ordinary resolution number 2
Approval of remuneration and policy
Ordinary resolution number 3
Place 15% of the unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors
Ordinary resolution number 4
General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash
Ordinary resolution number 5
Approval of re-appointment of auditor
Ordinary resolution number 6
Appointment of the company’s audit and risk committee members
6.1 Jan Willem Dreyer
6.2 Sonja Emilia Ncumisa De Bruyn-Sebotsa
6.3 Per-Erik Lagerström
Special resolution number 1
Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration
Special resolution number 2
General authority to repurchase company shares
Special resolution number 3
Financial assistance to directors, prescribed officers, employee share scheme beneficiaries
and related or interrelated companies
Special resolution number 4
Creation of an additional class of authorised shares
Special resolution number 5
Adoption of a revised MOI

Instructions to my/our proxy are indicated by a cross in the space provided above or by the number of shares in the appropriate boxes where all
shares held are not being voted.

Signature of registered shareholder (assisted by me as applicable)
PLEASE SEE NOTES ON REVERSE SIDE OF THE FORM

Date

2015
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NOTES
1.

A shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, may appoint one or more proxies
to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

2.

Every shareholder present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting of the company
shall, on a show of hands, have one vote only, irrespective of the number of shares such shareholder holds, but in the
event of a poll, every ordinary share in the company shall have one vote.

3.

Dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration are shareholders who appointed Computershare Custodial
Services as their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) with the express instruction that their uncertificated
shares are to be registered in the electronic sub-register of members in their own names.

INSTRUCTIONS ON SIGNING AND LODGING THE PROXY FORM
1.

A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the
space/s provided overleaf, with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”, but any such
deletion must be initialled by the shareholder. Should this space be left blank, the chairman of the annual general
meeting will exercise the proxy. The person whose name appears first on the proxy form and who is present at the annual
general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

2.

A shareholder’s voting instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the number of votes exercisable
by that shareholder in the appropriate spaces provided overleaf. Failure to do so shall be deemed to authorise the proxy
to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she thinks fit in respect of all the shareholder’s
exercisable votes. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by him/her or his/her proxy,
but the total number of votes cast, or those in respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the total
number of votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy.

3.

A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal
capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

4.

To be valid, the completed proxy forms must be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare
Investor Services (Pty) Limited at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or at fax
number 011 688 5238 to be received by no later than 09:00 on Wednesday, 18 November 2015. Proxy forms may only be
completed by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with
“own name” registration.

5.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative capacity must
be attached to this proxy form unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of
the annual general meeting.

6.

The completion and lodging of this proxy form shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual
general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof,
should such shareholder wish to do so.

7.

The completion of any blank spaces overleaf need not be initialled. Any alterations or corrections to this proxy form must
be initialled by the signatory/ies.

8.

The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed other than in
accordance with these instructions, provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.
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ADMINISTRATION
RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(RMH)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
Registration number: 1987/005115/06
JSE Ordinary share code: RMH
ISIN code: ZAE000024501
DIRECTORS:
GT Ferreira (Chairman), Herman Bosman (CEO), Johan Burger, Peter Cooper, Leon Crouse,
Sonja De Bruyn-Sebotsa, Laurie Dippenaar, Jan Dreyer, Pat Goss, Paul Harris, Albertina Kekana,
Per Lagerström, Murphy Morobe and Khehla Shubane
Alternate directors: Jannie Durand and Obakeng Phetwe
SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE:
Ellen Marais BCom(Hons), CA(SA)
Physical address:
Postal address:
Telephone:
Telefax:
Web address:

3rd Floor, 2 Merchant Place, Corner of Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 786273, Sandton, 2146
+27 11 282 8000
+27 11 282 4210
www.rmbh.co.za

SPONSOR:
(in terms of JSE Limited Listings Requirements)
Rand Merchant Bank
(a division of FirstRand Bank Limited)
Physical address: 1 Merchant Place, corner of Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196
TRANSFER SECRETARIES:
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
Physical address:
Postal address:
Telephone:
Telefax:

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107
+27 11 370 5000
+27 11 688 5221

ARTIST:
Lizamore & Associates
Physical address:
Telephone:
Telefax:
Web address:

155 Jan Smuts Avenue, Parkwood, 2193
+27 11 880 8802
+27 (0) 866 49 8551
www.lizamore.co.za

RMH commissioned artwork for its boardroom from Jaco van den Heever via Lizamore and Associates. This work has formed the basis
for our communication for 2015. RMH is committed to the arts and supporting local culture generation, by engaging promising young
artists in building their art collection.
Jaco van den Heever was born in Johannesburg in 1979. He is known for his visually compelling and highly nuanced drawings of his
resident city, Johannesburg. His art is motivated by the diverse urban landscapes and structures that surround the city and how they are
markers of its complicated socio-political history.

www.rmbh.co.za

